COM/RB1/rmn

Mailed 5/18/99

Decision 99-05-030 May 13, 1999

BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTILITIES COMMISSION OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

Application of San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E) for Authority to Implement a Distribution Performance-Based Ratemaking Mechanism (U 902-M).



(See Appendix A for list of appearances.)

-1-

ĩ

ŧ

.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

.

•

Title

Page

OPINION REGARDING SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC	
COMPANY'S DISTRIBUTION PERFORMANCE-BASED	
RATEMAKING MECHANISM	.2
Summary	
Procedural History	
Framework for Incentive-Based Ratemaking	
Background	8
SDG&E's Base Rate PBR Mechanism	10
Edison's Distribution PBR Mechanism	
SoCalGas' PBR Mechanism	13
The Proposed Settlement on Performance Indicators	14
Safety Performance Indicator	15
Reliability Performance Indicators	15
Customer Satisfaction Performance Indicator	17
Call Center Responsiveness Performance Indicator	17
Service Guarantees	18
Discussion of Settlement on Performance Indicators	19
SDG&E's Proposal	
Rate Indexing	21
Escalation	23
Productivity Factors	26
Earnings Sharing	27
Z factor and Exclusions	29
Offramps	
Elimination of the Gas Fixed Cost Account (GFCA)	
ORA's Proposal	
UCAN's Proposal	
FEA's Proposat	
NRDC's Proposal	
City of San Diego's Proposal	41
Monitoring and Evaluation Stipulation	
Discussion	
The PBR Indexing Formula	
Productivity	49
Earnings Sharing Mechanism	53

Z-Factor Treatment	
Monitoring and Evaluation and Comprehensive Review	
Comments on Alternate Decision	
Findings of Fact	
Conclusions of Law	
ORDER	

Appendix A - List of Appearances Appendix B - Settlement Agreement on PBR Performance Indicators

Attachment 1 – Escalation Attachment 2 - Earnings Sharing Mechanism

OPINION REGARDING SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY'S DISTRIBUTION PERFORMANCE-BASED RATEMAKING MECHANISM

Summary

In this decision, we consider the performance indicators and the design of the San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E) distribution performance-based ratemaking (PBR) mechanism. We adopt the settlement agreement regarding the performance indicators proposed by SDG&E, the Office of Ratepayer Advocates (ORA), the Utility Consumers' Action Network (UCAN), the Federal Executive Agencies (FEA), the Coalition of California Utility Employees (CCUE), the City of San Diego, the California Farm Bureau Federation (Farm Bureau), and the Natural Resources Defense Council (NRDC). This agreement is an all-party settlement and resolves all issues raised in connection with the requested performance indicators.

We adopt a distribution PBR mechanism modeled after those adopted for Southern California Gas Company (SoCalGas) in Decision (D.) 97-07-054 and Southern California Edison (Edison) in D.96-09-092. We adopt a rate indexing mechanism, a progressive sharing mechanism, and a productivity factor that includes a stretch factor. The revenue requirement used as the starting point for this distribution PBR mechanism is \$563.4 million for electric distribution and \$201.5 million for gas base rate revenues, as approved in D.98-12-038.¹

5

¹ Including expected Demand-side Management (DSM) shareholder incentives and compared to revenues at present rates, D.98-12-038 adopts a decrease of \$14.2 million in the electric department (2.46% decrease as a system average rate change) and an increase of \$3.9 million for the gas department (1.97% increase on a system average basis). The effect for combined departments is a \$10.3 million decrease, (1.33% decrease on a system average basis).

Procedural History

In D.97-04-067, we ordered SDG&E to file an application requesting approval of a distribution PBR mechanism. On January 6, 1998, SDG&E filed Application (A.) 98-01-014 to request authority to establish such a mechanism. ORA and UCAN filed timely protests, to which SDG&E filed a reply. SDG&E, ORA, and UCAN (jointly for UCAN, NRDC, Enron, FEA, and City of San Diego) filed prehearing conference statements.

On January 1, 1998, Senate Bill 960 became effective, which established various procedures for our proceedings. These rules are delineated in Public Utilities (PU) Code §§ 1701 et seq. and Article 2.5 of our Rules of Practice and Procedure. In accordance with the SB 960 rules, this proceeding has been categorized as ratesetting (ALJ 176-2986, as noticed in the Daily Calendar of February 6, 1998).

On March 17, 1998, Assigned Commissioner Neeper and Assigned Administrative Law Judge (ALJ) Minkin presided at a prehearing conference. Commissioner Neeper then issued a scoping memo which designated ALJ Minkin as the principal hearing officer for this proceeding. The scoping memo set forth the issues to be included in this proceeding and established a procedural schedule under which the Commission would issue a final decision in this proceeding by March 1999, or in no event no later than 18 months from the date of filing of the application, pursuant to SB 960, Section 13. Commissioner Neeper also encouraged parties to meet and confer on an informal basis to attempt to resolve issues.

At the request of parties, the scoping memo was amended to revise the procedural schedule to delay hearings and set a second prehearing conference on August 10, 1998. ORA,UCAN, FEA, CCUE, and NRDC submitted testimony on SDG&E's proposal on July 3, 1998. SDG&E and CCUE submitted rebuttal

- 3 -

testimony on July 31. Informal discussions among the parties led to two technical workshops held in San Francisco on August 20 and 27. A formal settlement conference was noticed on September 2, in conformance with Rule 51, and held on September 14. The settling parties filed and served the Joint Motion for Adoption of Settlement Agreement on PBR Performance Indicators on September 15, 1998. No party filed comments.² No evidentiary hearings were held on the issues addressed in the proposed settlement agreement.

PBR design issues were addressed in four days of evidentiary hearings held on September 2, 3, 4, and 14. Commissioner Neeper was in attendance for closing arguments on September 16. Public participation hearings were held in San Diego and Escondido on September 23 and September 24, respectively, at which Commissioner Neeper and ALJ Minkin presided. This proceeding was submitted upon opening and reply briefs, filed on October 9 and October 23, respectively.³

Framework for Incentive-Based Ratemaking

We have long considered incentive-based ratemaking superior to command-and-control regulation. PBR mechanisms send the important message that minimizing costs without sacrificing service quality and reliability can result in greater rewards with "less" regulation than traditional cost-of-service regulation. In order to provide these incentives, we must necessarily break the

² The settling parties also requested that the Commission shorten the time for opening comments and reply comments on the proposed settlement agreement. There was no reason to shorten time, but given the all-party nature of the settlement, no comments were filed. Thus, this request is moot.

³ By separate motions filed on October 26, UCAN requests leave to file a corrected opening brief and to file its reply brief late. Good cause being shown, these motions are granted.

link between rates and costs. Cost-of-service regulation uses the utility's own costs in setting rates and often results in inefficiency, because utilities are rewarded by increased rates for increased costs.

We have established several goals to be addressed by incentive regulation for energy utilities. In our comprehensive rulemaking (R.94-04-031) and investigation (I.94-04-032) addressing proposed policies on electric restructuring and reforming regulation, we stated our intention to replace cost-of-service regulation with performance-based regulation. It is worth reviewing the goals stated in that document:

"First, prices for electric services in California are simply too high. The shift to performance-based regulation can provide considerably stronger incentives for efficient utility operations and investment, lower rates, and result in more reasonable, competitive prices for California's consumers. Performance-based regulation also promises to simplify regulation and reduce administrative burdens in the long term. Second, since the utilities' performance-based proposals currently before us leave both industry structure and the utility franchise fundamentally intact, consumers can expect service, safety and reliability to remain at their historically high levels. Third, the utilities' reform proposals are likely to provide an opportunity to earn that is at a minimum comparable to opportunities present in cost-of-service regulation. Finally, performance-based regulation can assist the utilities in developing the tools necessary to make the successful transition from an operating environment directed by government and focussed on regulatory proceedings, to one in which consumer, the rules of competition, and market forces dictate." [all footnotes omitted.] (R.94-04-031/1.94-04-032, mimeo. at pp. 35-36.)

In D.94-08-023, we adopted an experimental base rate PBR mechanism for SDG&E and stated our goals and objectives for improving regulation:

"1. To provide greater incentive than exists under current regulation for the utility to reduce rates.

-5-

- "2. To provide a more rational system of incentives for management to take reasonable risks and control costs in both the long and short run. This includes extending the relatively short-term planning horizon associated with the three-year GRC cycle and reducing the company's incentive to add to rate base to increase earnings.
- "3. To prepare the company to operate effectively in the increasingly competitive energy utility industry. This entails providing greater flexibility for management to take risks combined with a greater assignment of the consequences of those risks to the company.
- "4. To reduce the administrative cost of regulation.

"Again, it is not sufficient to define these objectives for a regulatory reform experiment. We must also ensure that the achievement of regulatory reform does not come at the expense of the primary purpose or other relevant objectives of regulation. We reiterate the standards for review ... which the parties generally purport to embrace. The experiment must have a reasonable potential for improving on existing regulation without jeopardizing regulatory goals, and therefore, (1) respond to the goal of safe, reliable, environmentally sensitive service at reasonable rates; (2) be designed to enable the Commission to judge the success of the experiment when it is over; and (3) not in itself create unreasonable risks. we accept and adopt the following additional criteria:

- "1. To the extent that an individual program component or the proposal as a whole imposes greater risks on ratepayers, it should also remove, reduce, provide compensation for, or transfer those risks to the utility. This does not necessarily mean that we need to require rate reductions in return for ratepayer assumption of risk, notwithstanding our objective of rate reduction. It does mean that the program, taken as a whole, should provide a reasonable balancing of the attendant risks and rewards. There should be an equitable sharing of the benefits that reform is intended to achieve.
- "2. The adopted regulatory program should maintain system guality, reliability, safety, and customer satisfaction even as

expected cost reductions occur. Thus, it should prevent or discourage long-run disinvestment in the system that could otherwise result in unintended system degradation.

- "3. The program should avoid or minimize unintended consequences in interplay among various regulatory programs, including DSM incentive, low income rate assistance programs, etc.
- "4. The experimental program should be flexible enough to allow needed changes during its term, yet sufficiently fixed in form and content to provide a predictable framework for management planning and to allow evaluation.
- "5. There should be explicit provisions for a program of monitoring and evaluation which will enable us to become aware of problems requiring solution during the term of the experiment and which will provide information needed to decide on the program of regulation which will be implemented at the conclusion of the experiment." (55 CPUC 2d 592, 615-616.)

Our Preferred Policy Decision (D.95-12-063, as modified by D.96-01-009) in the electric restructuring rulemaking and investigation reiterated these goals and directed California's three major investor-owned utilities, including SDG&E, to file applications to establish separate generation and distribution PBRs:

"Our goal is to have an improved regulatory process that offers flexibility and encourages utilities to focus on their performance, reduce operation cost, increase service quality, and improve productivity. At the same time, we must ensure that safety, quality of service, and reliability are not compromised. There is broad but not universal consensus that Performance Based Ratemaking (PBR) can accomplish these objectives by providing clear signals to utility managers with respect to their business decisions and helping them make the transition from a tightly regulated structure to one that is more competitive. Under PBR, utility performance is measured against established benchmarks. Superior performance, above the benchmark, would receive financial rewards, and poor performance would result in financial penalties to the shareholders. By providing

financial incentives to utilities, we will encourage them to operate more efficiently to maximize their profits." (Preferred Policy Decision, mimeo. at p. 82.)

In both D.96-09-092 (adopting a PBR mechanism Edison) and D.97-07-054 (adopting a PBR mechanism for SoCalGas), we confirmed our goals for developing PBR mechanisms:

- Improving the efficiency and performance of the utility;
- Improving incentives and removing disincentives for utility cost reductions;
- Simplifying and streamlining the regulatory process;
- Moving rates for all customer classes, in real dollars, steadily down the national average for investor-owned utilities;
- Maintaining a reasonable opportunity for the utility to earn a fair rate of return; and
- Maintaining and improving quality of service.

Taken together, these established goals help us to develop the framework for considering SDG&E's distribution PBR proposal.

Background

SDG&E has been operating under a base rate PBR mechanism since 1994. Edison operates under a distribution PBR mechanism, as described in D.96-09-092, D.98-07-077, and D.98-08-015. SoCalGas also operates under a PBR mechanism, as described in D.97-07-054. As approved in D.98-03-073, SoCalGas and SDG&E are now operating entities within the holding company of Sempra Energy, Inc., as a result of the merger of Enova Corporation and Pacific Enterprises, the parent companies of SDG&E and SoCalGas, respectively. We will briefly review the design of each of these mechanisms.

The process of developing an effective PBR mechanism begins with selecting an appropriate starting point for revenue requirements. In this proceeding, we have approved a settlement for this amount, as discussed in D.98-12-038. Revenue requirements or rates are then adjusted annually to account for inflation and productivity, using indexing methods. Taken together, inflation with the productivity offset is commonly described as "Consumer Price Index (CPI) minus X" or the "update rule." Incentives are then developed to ensure that utility decision-makers are motivated to achieve cost savings.

Earnings sharing mechanisms track actual earnings and share with ratepayers any earnings or losses that fall above or below a certain threshold. Generally, earnings sharing mechanisms have *deadbands* in which there is no sharing; i.e., ranges in which only shareholders are at risk for the earnings variations. A live band is the range of an applicable PBR performance indicator against which the compared utility performance may result in varying rewards or penalties. Adopting an effective PBR mechanism requires a balance between providing appropriate incentives to utilities with adhering to our stated goals of providing an equitable sharing of the benefits. In addition, our objective of encouraging the utilities to operate more effectively in a competitive marketplace suggest that these benefits must be shared with ratepayers.

Earnings sharing mechanisms may be either progressive or regressive. A *regressive* mechanism is one in which the utility's share decreases as cost savings increase. In contrast, a *progressive* mechanism is one in which the utility's share increases as cost savings increase. Finally, "Z" factors apply to exogenous or unforeseen events that are beyond the utility's control and that have a material impact on the utility's costs. In D.94-06-011, we adopted nine criteria for determining whether the cost impact from these unexpected events should be

-9-

included in the utility's revenue requirements. In sum, the formula describing PBR regulation is as follows:

 $\mathbf{R}_n = (\mathbf{r} \cdot (\mathbf{esc} - \mathbf{X})) + \mathbf{Z}$

where:

R = rates or revenue requirements in years following initial period n = year for which rates or revenue requirements are determined

r = starting point rates or revenue requirements

esc = escalation or inflation measure

X = productivity measure

 $\mathbf{Z} = \mathbf{any}$ one-time unforeseen costs that must be accounted for

In addition, each PBR mechanism has various performance indicators. These performance indicators are designed to ensure that the utility's service quality, customer service, reliability, and safety do not deteriorate under PBR regulation. The utility's performance is reviewed according to certain criteria and either earns a reward or suffers a penalty. These rewards and penalties are in addition to any earnings or losses achieved under the earnings sharing component of the mechanism.

SDG&E's Base Rate PBR Mechanism

SDG&E's initial PBR mechanism was adopted on September 1, 1994 and applied to the period 1994 through 1998. This base rate PBR mechanism required a sales forecast and the 1993 GRC revenue requirements were adopted as the starting point for this mechanism, as escalated to 1994 using specific PBR formulas for operation and maintenance (O&M) costs and net plant additions. Different inflation components were applied to labor O&M costs (the SDG&E labor escalation factor), non-labor O&M costs (the DRI national inflation index), and plant additions (the Handy Whitman inflation index). The productivity component was fixed at 1.5% and was applied only in O&M formulas. A

customer growth factor was incorporated in both O&M inflation factors and the plant additions inflation factor.

There is no earnings sharing up to 100 basis points' above the authorized rate of return. The 100 basis points consist of a deadband. From 100 to 150 basis points above the authorized rate of return, a regressive sharing mechanism was adopted in which 75% accrues to shareholders and 25% accrues to ratepayers. From 150 basis points above authorized rate of return, sharing is 50/50. There is no downside risk to ratepayers. No specific Z-factor treatment was adopted, but parties had the ability to file petitions for modification. No specific exclusions were accounted for, but SDG&E could apply to request exclusion of certain material external events above \$500,000. A midterm review was required, with reports on annual performance and annual escalation updates. Offramps to the PBR mechanism were built in at 150 basis points below the authorized rate of return and 300 basis points above and below the authorized rate of return.

During the period 1994 through 1997, SDG&E has earned approximately \$136 million in after-tax dollars from its earnings sharing mechanism. In 1994, SDG&B earned 94 basis points above its authorized rate of return, which is within the deadband. In 1995, SDG&E earned 130 basis points above the authorized rate of return, which is 30 basis points above the deadband area. In 1996, SDG&E earned 152 basis points above its authorized rate of return, or 52 basis points above the deadband. In 1997, SDG&E earned 153 basis points above its authorized rate of return, or 53 basis points above the deadband.³

Footnote continued on next page

⁴ A basis point is 1/100th of 1%; i.e., 100 basis points equals 1%.

⁵ Final 1997 earnings above authorized rate of return and corresponding shares have not yet been authorized by the Commission. In Resolution E-3562, dated December 17,

SDG&E also accrued net performance rewards of approximately \$18.7 million through 1997. As adjusted by Resolution E-3512, ratepayers' share of earnings above authorized rate of return equaled \$6.8 million through 1996. Ratepayers' share in 1997 is expected to equal approximately \$4.4 million for a total of \$11.2 million over the four-year period.

Edison's Distribution PBR Mechanism

Edison's initial PBR mechanism was adopted in D.96-09-092, to be effective for the period 1997 through 2001. This electric distribution base rate PBR mechanism does not require a sales forecast and the 1996 GRC revenue requirements, as separated transmission and distribution components, were adopted as the starting point for this mechanism, as escalated to 1997 using the "CPI - X" formula applied to rates. The inflation component consists of the Consumer Price Index. The productivity component ramps up from 1.2% in 1997 to 1.4% in 1998 and 1.6% in 1999, 2000, and 2001. No customer growth factor is incorporated.

There is no earnings sharing up to 50 basis points (.5%) above the authorized return on equity. The 50 basis points equal the deadband. This is a progressive sharing mechanism, with ratepayers earning a range of 75% to 0 as the return on equity increases from 50 basis points to 300 basis points above the authorized return on equity. Similarly, shareholders earn a range of 25% to 100% over the same range. Ratepayers share in the downside risk in the same percentage. The Commission adopted specific Z-factor criteria for Edison, as previously approved for telephone utilities, with a \$10 million deductible.

1998, the Commission ordered SDG&E to recalculate its revenue sharing amounts for 1994 to 1997, excluding the expenses for various employee and senior management incentive rewards.

3

Generation, special one-time amortization accounts, hazardous waste, research, design and development, demand-side management, and low-emission vehicle expenditures were all excluded from this PBR mechanism. A midterm review is required in 1999, with reports on annual performance and annual escalation updates. The PBR mechanism will trigger an offramp at 600 basis points above or below the benchmark return on equity.

In 1997, Edison's actual return on equity was 13.62%, 202 basis points above the authorized return on equity. Ratepayers earned approximately \$42.6 million from this sharing mechanism, with shareholders earning about \$36.3 million.⁴ Edison also accrued a \$5 million reward for its health and safety performance indicators.

SoCalGas' PBR Mechanism

SoCalGas' PBR mechanism was adopted in D.97-07-054, to be effective for the period 1998 through 2002. This base rate revenue requirement PBR mechanism requires a sales forecast and the 1997 revenue requirements were adopted as the starting point for this mechanism, as escalated to 1998 using the "CPI - X" formula applied to revenue requirement per customer. The inflation component consists of a weighting of the DRI inflation factors for labor O&M, non-labor O&M, and capital additions. This weighting is based on the three California gas utilities. Then overall productivity component ramps up from 2.1% in 1998 to 2.5% in 2002. The productivity factor includes a stretch factor and takes into account declining rate base. The SoCalGas PBR incorporates customer growth in a revenue requirement per customer adjustment.

Э

^{&#}x27;These results have not yet been approved by the Commission.

There is no earnings sharing up to 25 basis points (.25%) above the authorized rate of return. The 25 basis points equals the deadband. The SoCalGas PBR includes a progressive sharing mechanism, with ratepayers earning a range of 75% to 0 as the rate of return increases from 25 basis points to 300 basis points above the authorized return. Similarly, shareholders earn a range of 25% to 100% over the same range. There is no downside risk for ratepayers. The Commission adopted the same specific Z-factor criteria for SoCalGas as was previously approved for Edison, with a \$5 million deductible. Several programs are excluded from the PBR mechanism. A midterm review is required in the next Biennial Cost Allocation Proceeding (BCAP), with reports on annual performance and annual escalation updates. If earnings are either 300 basis points above the authorized rate of return or 175 basis points below the authorized rate of return for two years in a row, this will trigger an offramp review of the PBR mechanism. No results have been reported yet for SoCalGas' PBR mechanism.

The Proposed Settlement on Performance Indicators

The proposed settlement on performance indicators addresses safety, reliability, customer satisfaction, and call center responsiveness, as well as certain customer service guarantees. Performance indicators offer rewards and penalties for specific actions, as described above. Other than service guarantees, each of the performance indicators described below has a symmetrical reward and penalty. (See Appendix B for a comparison of each party's position and the settlement position.)

The proposed settlement agreement identifies certain performance indicators which SDG&E has agreed to withdraw. SDG&E agrees to provide to the Commission and to the settling parties an annual report which provides quarterly data for various items related to customer service, emergencies, and

- 14 -

call center responsiveness. Because tracking systems for several of these measures are not yet in place, SDG&E proposes to begin tracking this data two months after issuance of this decision. The first report will be submitted in early 2000, addressing data through December 31, 1999. SDG&E agrees to withdraw its proposed competition enhancement and environmental citizenship performance indicators. Finally, no party opposes SDG&E's proposal to gather data for the purposes of developing an electric system maintenance performance indicator.

We describe below each of the performance indicators proposed in the settlement agreement.

Safety Performance Indicator

The employee safety performance indicator is based on an Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) frequency standard. This standard compares SDG&E's regulated OSHA-reportable lost time and nonlost time injuries and illnesses to SDG&E employee working hours, as adjusted for personnel changes due to the approved merger between Enova and Pacific Enterprises. The settlement agreement recommends the following parameters:

Benchmark: OSHA-reportable rate of 8.80

Deadband: +/- 0.20 Liveband: +/- 1.20 Unit of change: 0.01 Incentive per unit: \$25,000 Maximum incentive: +/- \$3 million

Reliability Performance Indicators

Reliability is measured by various benchmarks which apply to SDG&E's facilities and exclude planned outages and major events (as defined in

D.96-09-045).⁷ These benchmarks include the System Average Interruption Duration Index (SAIDI), the System Average Interruption Frequency Index (SAIFI), and the Momentary Average Interruption Frequency Index (MAIFI).

The following measures are recommended for the SAIDI:

Benchmark: 52 minutes (excluding underground cable failures) for each year 1999, 2000, 2001. 73 minutes (including underground cable failures) for 2002.

Deadband: 0

Liveband: +/- 15

Unit of change: 1

Incentive per unit: \$250,000

Maximum incentive: +/- \$3.75 million

The following measures are recommended for the SAIFI:

Benchmark: 0.90 outages per year

Deadband: 0

Liveband: +/- 0.15

Unit of change: 0.01

Incentive per unit: \$250,000

Maximum incentive: +/- \$3.75 million

The following measures are recommended for the MAIFI:

Benchmark: 1.28 outages per year

⁷ Any events that are the direct result of failures in the Independent System Operator (ISO) controlled bulk power market or non-SDG&B owned transmission facilities are excluded from these reliability benchmarks. In addition, D.96-09-045 defines excludable major events as events caused by earthquake, fire, or storms of sufficient intensity to give rise to a state of emergency being declared by the government or any other disaster that affects more than 15% of the system facilities or 10% of the utility's customers, whichever is less for each event. (D.96-09-045, mimeo. at Appendix A, p. 2.)

Deadband: 0 Liveband: +/- 0.30 Unit of change: 0.015 Incentive per unit: \$50,000 Maximum incentive: +/- \$1million

Customer Satisfaction Performance Indicator

SDG&E's Customer Service Monitoring System (CSMS) indicator measures overall customer satisfaction with recent service transactions. The proposed CSMS measure is recommended with the following parameters:

> Benchmark: 92.5% very satisfied Deadband: +/- 0.5% Liveband: +/- 2.0% Unit of change: 0.1% Incentive per unit: \$75,000 Maximum incentive: +/- \$1.5 million

Call Center Responsiveness Performance Indicator

This performance indicator measures SDG&E's responsiveness to customer telephone inquiries. The settlement agreement recommends the following parameters:

Benchmark: 80% of calls answered in 60 seconds, as measured on an annual basis

Deadband: 0 Liveband: +/- 15% Unit of change: 0.1% Incentive per unit: \$10,000 Maximum incentive: +/- \$1.5 million No standard is recommended for emergency calls at this time.

- 17 -

Service Guarantees

The settling parties recommend that certain service guarantees be implemented but agree that in order to provide adequate time for implementation, SDG&E will begin these guarantees approximately two months after the issuance of this decision, but no sooner than April 1, 1999.

SDG&E makes appointments for services when access is required to the customer's premises and the customer requests to be present. These appointments may be set for a four-hour window when requested by customers or they may be set for a particular day. If SDG&E is not able to meet the appointment commitment, the customer's account will be credited with \$50. However, if the customer is notified at least four hours before the end of the appointment period, SDG&E is excused from applying the credit. For establishment of service (turn-on orders), the customer will be credited with the applicable service establishment charge (\$15 or \$30) rather than \$50. This guarantee does not apply to gas pilot light appointment, or if SDG&E documents that the service person missed the appointment due to natural disaster, labor strike or was called to work on an Emergency Order, including fire or explosion, broken or blowing gas line, high pressure gas, emergency carbon monoxide, and hazardous leaks. Emergency Orders are excluded from this guarantee, due to SDG&E's public safety obligations.

When a customer requests a date for a permanent new service establishment, SDG&E will turn on the new service on the day promised (prior to midnight) or credit the customer's account with the service establishment charge (\$15 for electric service; \$30 for both gas and electric service). The credit will not apply if at least 24 hours' notice of a date change is provided to the customer. Notice provided by message left on an answering machine or voice mail is sufficient. For the guarantee to be valid, there must be open access to the facility

- 18 -

and the meter panel or gas service; all required inspections must be completed and approved; there must be no threats of harm to employees; and credits will be paid only when the customer is currently without service. SDG&E agrees to develop a centralized complaint tracking system and will provide annual reports to the Commission and to settling parties on results achieved.

Discussion of Settlement on Performance Indicators

This is an "uncontested settlement" as defined in Rule 51(f), i.e., a settlement that "...is not contested by any party to the proceeding within the comment period after service of the stipulation or settlement on all parties to the proceeding." Rule 51.1(e) requires that settlement agreements must be reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with the law, and in the public interest.

D.92-12-019 considered a settlement of the SDG&E 1993 General Rate Case. In that decision, the Commission outlined four criteria that must be satisfied in order for the Commission to approve an all-party settlement. The proposed settlement must specify:

- "a. that it commands the unanimous sponsorship of all active parties to the instant proceeding;
- "b. that the sponsoring parties are fairly reflective of the affected interests;
- "c. that no term of the settlement contravenes statutory provisions or prior commission decisions; ...and
- "d. that the settlement conveys to the commission sufficient information to discharge our future regulatory obligations with respect to the parties and their interests." (D.92-12-019, 46 CPUC2d 538, 500-551 (1992).)

We are satisfied that the proposed settlement commands the sponsorship of all active parties sponsoring testimony on performance indicators. The sponsoring parties reflect a broad spectrum of affected interests. ORA represents

ratepayers in general, while UCAN represents residential and small commercial ratepayers in particular. Large customers, governmental interests, and agricultural customers are represented by FEA, City of San Diego, and Farm Bureau. CCUE represents the interests of utility employees in reliability and safety issues. NRDC considers the effects of such determinations upon the environment and SDG&E obviously considers the impact of the settlement on its shareholders. Considering the thorough review of SDG&E's proposals and the broad spectrum of interests supporting the proposed settlement, we are satisfied that sponsoring parties fairly reflect the affected interests.

The settlement is reasonable in light of the whole record and does not contravene any statute or prior Commission decision. SDG&E submitted extensive testimony and workpapers supporting its recommended revenue requirement increases. Similarly, ORA and UCAN conducted thorough investigations and analysis of SDG&E's request and developed their own recommendations. FEA, CCUE, and NRDC also submitted testimony addressing performance indicators.

Thus, the extensive testimony served by the settling parties provides sufficient information to the Commission to properly judge the reasonableness of the settlement and to discharge its future regulatory responsibilities. Parties have included a comparison exhibit, pursuant to Rule 51.1(c), which allows us to compare original positions to the proposed settlement amounts. The settlement is the result of the parties compromising and reaching agreement on their widely divergent positions, resulting in agreement on performance indicators related to safety, reliability, customer satisfaction, call center responsiveness, and service guarantees related to missed appointments and new installations.

SDG&E can earn or lose a maximum of \$14.5 million from the rewards and penalties associated with performance indicators. We are satisfied that this

- 20 -

settlement is in the public interest and avoids costly litigation on these issues. We will make specific findings related to the proposed reporting requirements, which we discuss in the section addressing timing of reports, term of the PBR mechanism, and comprehensive reviews.

SDG&E's Proposal

SDG&E proposes to establish a completely new PBR mechanism for the period 1999-2002, but with the preference that this PBR mechanism would be perpetual. SDG&E proposes a rate index PBR, i.e., rates would be directly adjusted each year for escalation and a productivity offset. Rather than the usual sharing mechanism in which amounts to be shared are flowed back to ratepayers as a one-time adjustment, SDG&E proposes to use the sharing mechanism to adjust the starting point from which future rates are calculated. SDG&E characterizes this mechanism as a self-calibrating rate mechanism, in which information on the results of one year's performance is used to adjust the starting point for setting rates in future years. SDG&E argues that its proposed PBR mechanism should be evaluated in light of balancing all components of the mechanism. Although its parent company recently merged with Pacific Enterprises (the parent of SoCalGas), SDG&E states that SoCalGas' PBR design components are not applicable.

Rate Indexing

The rate indexing mechanism is captured in the following formula: Rate_(a) = (Rate _(a) * (1+ Esc - X)) + or - Z

where Rate = electric distribution rate component or gas base rate component;

n = year for which rates are being determined

Esc = escalation or inflation factor

X = productivity factor; and

- 21 -

Z = exogenous factors to be either added or subtracted

SDG&E argues that a rate indexing mechanism is simpler and more direct than either a revenue requirement indexing mechanism or a revenue-percustomer indexing mechanism. Each rate component is adjusted annually according to the above formula. A revenue requirement indexing formula applies an index to a total revenue requirement. The resulting revenue requirement is then used to establish rates through use of a forecast of kilowatt hours or therms delivered. Balancing accounts are used to true-up the revenue amount when subsequent actual volumes do not match. These mechanisms often include a component to account for customer growth. A rate mechanism usually does not include such a component and applies an indexing formula directly to rates.

SDG&E argues that a rate indexing mechanism is appropriate because the Commission has eliminated the Electric Revenue Adjustment Mechanism (ERAM), which was the balancing account used to true-up the revenue requirements for recorded sales versus forecast sales on the electric side. SDG&E also proposes to eliminate the Gas Fixed Costs Account (GFCA) as of the beginning of 1999. If both of these accounts are eliminated and a rate indexing mechanism is used, SDG&E asserts that it is now subject to the risk of variations in delivery quantities. If actual delivered throughput (whether kilowatts or therms) differs from the throughput used to determine the initial starting rate, SDG&E will either gain revenue through greater sales or lose revenue if sales are less than forecast. Because there is no adjustment for customer growth, SDG&E is at risk to recover the costs of new customers out of the revenue stemming from the increases in volumes delivered.

- 22 -

Escalation

As described in Exhibit 74, SDG&E's proposed escalation measure is based on historical and forecasted industry-specific data, published quarterly. Separate escalation factors are used for electric and gas. Each proposed index is designed to measure changes in price levels of labor, nonlabor and capital inputs purchased by utilities. SDG&E asserts that this methodology is superior to using a national aggregate price index, such as the CPI, because these CPI-type indices are not designed to provide a framework for analyzing changes in the price level of inputs purchased by utilities, but measure economy-wide changes in the price level of goods and services.

The base rate cost indices proposed by SDG&E are composed of nationallevel utility-specific cost indices obtained from the Standard & Poor's DRI/McGraw-Hill Economic and Utility Cost Forecasting Services (DRI). The component national level utility cost indices are combined into base rate cost indices using expenditure weights developed from historical expenditures by electric and gas utilities located in California. SDG&E explains that the base rate cost indices are designed to measure changes in the price level of inputs that California electric distribution and gas utilities purchase to operate and maintain public utility assets.

This cost escalation proposal is generally based on the methodology adopted for SoCalGas in D.97-07-054. SDG&E proposes to use average hourly earnings for electric, gas, and sanitary services as the basis for its labor cost index for both electric distribution and gas. Historical data is reported by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS) and this data forms the basis of the DRI labor cost index referred to as AHE49NS. Forecasts of this index are readily available from DRI. The proposed labor cost index differs slightly from that adopted for SoCalGas, which is based on two indices.

- 23 -

The proposed index for electric distribution nonlabor O&M expenses utilizes five DRI cost indices: total distribution plant O&M cost index (JEDOMMS), customer accounts operation cost index (JECAOMS), customer service and information operation cost index (JECSIIOMS), sales operation cost index (JESALOMS), and total administrative and general O&M cost index (JEADGOMMS). SDG&E proposes to use the DRI total gas utility nonlabor O&M cost index (JGTOTALMS), the same index adopted for SoCalGas.

The proposed cost index for capital-related electric distribution costs is based on an estimate of the rental price of electric distribution utility structures, which is estimated from three data series obtained from DRI: rental price of capital - nonresidential structures-public utilities (ICNRCOSTPU); chain type price index - investment in nonresidential structures - public utilities (PCWICNRPU), and the Handy-Whitman electric utility construction cost index total distribution plant, Pacific Region (JUEPD@PCF). All of these indices are obtained from DRI. The proposed cost index for capital related gas costs is based on an estimate of the rental price of gas utility structures, which is estimated from three data series obtained from DRI: rental price of capital - nonresidential structures-public utilities (ICNRCOSTPU); chain type price index - investment in nonresidential structures - public utilities (PCWICNRPU), and the Handy-Whitman gas utility construction cost index-total plant, Pacific Region (JUG@PCF).

While the fundamental basis of the capital-related cost indices is the same as that adopted for SoCalGas, SDG&E proposes to use a three-year moving average of the rental price of utility structures to calculate the capital-related cost indices. SDG&E believes this approach reduces the volatility related to rental prices of public utility structures which means that annual changes in the base rates escalated with these indices are less variable.

- 24 -

The cost indices for electric distribution and gas base rates are each a weighted average of the component cost indices for labor, nonlabor, and capitalrelated expenses, as described above. The weights used to construct the weighted average are based on average state-level electric distribution expenditures or gas utility expenditures expressed in real 1996 dollars for the period 1992-1996. The annual adjustments for electric distribution base rates average 1.9% per year from 1993 through 1996 compared to average projected adjustments of 1.2% per year from 1997 through 1999. The annual adjustments for gas base rates average 2.5% per year from 1996 through 1996 compared to an average projected adjustment of 1.9% per year from 1997 through 1999.

SDG&E's escalation proposal has not been challenged. Starting in the year 2000, SDG&E proposes to use the percentage changes in the base rate cost indices in the rate indexing formulae to adjust the electric distribution and gas base rates for changes in the cost of inputs purchased by the utility. Exhibit 28 demonstrates that electric escalation is forecasted to average 1.2%, which is 120 basis points below the CPI, which ORA forecasted to average 2.4% over the 1997-2002 time period.

SDG&E will continue to rely on the Market Indexed Capital Adjustment Mechanism (MICAM) to true-up the cost of capital in base rates for significant changes in nominal interest rates. SDG&E explains that the capital-related cost indices provide a basis for partial annual adjustments to base rates for changes in the cost of capital. These partial adjustments would only affect base rates in years when MICAM is not triggered. MICAM adjustments are only made after interest rates change by 100 basis points or more from the previous benchmark.⁴

^{*} Interest rates are measured by averaging the yield on a single-A utility bonds over a six-month period from April to September.

In years when a MICAM adjustment is triggered, the annual cost of capital adjustments embedded in the PBR cost escalation proposal would be trued up to the MICAM adjustment cost of capital.

Productivity Factors

SDG&E proposes to apply a 0.92 productivity factor for electric distribution and a 0.68 productivity factor for gas. These factors were developed from a national utility industry study conducted by Christensen Associates, which developed Total Factor Productivity (TFP) indices. A TFP index measures the ratio of its output quantity index to its input quantity index. It compares the growth trend in the unit cost of the industry to the trend in prices of labor, capital services, and other production inputs.

SDG&E argues that an industry-wide study is appropriate to develop productivity factors because this approach is comparable to the operation of competitive markets. SDG&E states that this study was undertaken in response to the Commission's direction in D.96-09-092, the Edison PBR decision:

"The price and productivity values should come from national or industry measures and not from the utility itself. The productivity measure should come from a forecast of industry-specific productivity." (D.96-09-092, mimeo. at p. 15.)

Despite the fact that its proposed productivity factors are less than those adopted for any other energy utility, SDG&B asserts that no stretch factor is necessary. A stretch factor is an addition to the productivity factor to ensure that the utility to which it is applied is indeed "stretching" to achieve efficiency gains. SDG&E argues that the use of a stretch factor is only appropriate when there is a change from traditional ratemaking to PBR, when there is the presumption that significant efficiency gains may be realized, or when there is uncertainty about the level of an appropriate productivity factor. In SDG&E's view, none of these circumstances apply. SDG&E also argues that because the earnings sharing

calibration guarantees any gains will benefit customers in future years, the calibration approach is essentially a stretch factor. Finally, SDG&E urges us to consider its proposed productivity factors in conjunction with the proposed escalation methodology. SDG&E contends that using a utility-specific inflation index makes achieving productivity gains more difficult because the update rule will result in a lower figure than if a different measure of inflation were used.

Earnings Sharing

SDG&E's proposed symmetrical earnings sharing mechanism is designed to incorporate a self-calibrating feature to the rate setting formula. Rather than providing customers with a one-time adjustment based on the outcome of the sharing mechanism, SDG&E proposes to adjust the next year's indexing of rates. The actual net operating income is compared to that of the authorized rate of return. The difference is then subject to earnings sharing. The proposed mechanism contains a symmetrical 100-basis-point deadband, i.e., shareholders are responsible for the first 100 basis points (1%) over or under the authorized rate of return. Outside the deadband, in the liveband, 20% of any gains or losses is flowed through to the customer through an adjustment to the next year's rates.

The deadband is designed to account for gains and losses associated with routine operation of the company. SDG&E acknowledges that its proposed deadband is larger than that adopted for either Edison (50 basis points around Edison's authorized return on equity) or SoCalGas (25 basis points above SoCalGas' authorized rate of return). SDG&E argues that its deadband should be wider than Edison's because 1) short-run temperature-based sales fluctuations are more volatile for gas customers than electric customers, 2) the deadband should account for changes in throughput resulting from electric industry restructuring, and 3) removing generation and transmission from the PBR means that the earnings sharing component operates on lower overall net operating

- 27 -

income. Because SoCalGas did not eliminate the Core Fixed Cost Account, SDG&E contends that the Commission explicitly adjusted SoCalGas' deadband downward to account for the reduced risk of routine operations. SoCalGas' deadband is also adjusted to account for a declining rate base.

SDG&E explains that the self-calibrating nature of its proposed sharing mechanism justifies the low 20% it proposes to "share" with customers. According to SDG&E, the 20% adjustment in rates would be carried forward indefinitely and would compound through the term of the PBR mechanism. The savings compound over time, because the prospective adjustments to rates are permanent. SDG&E maintains that such adjustments ensure that shareholders and ratepayers won't have to pay taxes on the difference between what would have been collected under more traditional earnings sharing mechanisms and the proposed mechanism. SDG&E admits that the power of the earnings sharing mechanism is inextricably tied to the term of the mechanism. The proposed sharing rate of 20% of actual returns above deadband is associated with the proposed five-year initial term for the mechanism. Due to the compounding effect, if a longer term were adopted, SDG&E states that a lower sharing percentage would achieve the same effect. If a shorter term were adopted, a higher sharing percentage would be required to achieve the same impact. SDG&E recommends that the sharing mechanism be symmetrical, i.e., any losses outside of the deadband would be reflected in permanent increases in rates using the same self-calibrating approach.

SDG&E believes that a "utility's best incentive to pursue productivityenhancing investments would be to allow the utility to retain 100% of the benefit of those investments." (Exhibit 8, p. PBR5-5.) While acknowledging that this approach is unlikely to be implemented, SDG&E recommends that a symmetrical sharing mechanism with a reasonably large deadband makes sense according to

economic theory and in terms of equity because the deadband is sized to the amount of risk absorbed by the utility and still allows customers to share in the efficiency gains. Thus, the proposed earnings sharing mechanism is neither progressive nor regressive. While recognizing that the bulk of the benefits accrue to the utility, SDG&E believes this is counteracted by compounding the customers' share of the gains in future years.

Z factor and Exclusions

SDG&E recommends that the nine criteria adopted for Z-factor treatment in Edison's and SoCalGas' PBR be applied to its proposed mechanism.

Pursuant to the cost of service settlement adopted in D.98-12-038, certain costs will not be included in the PBR mechanism, but are subject to other forms of ratemaking. Tree-trimming expenses are not included in the PBR sharing mechanism, but are subject to a one-way balancing account. For the duration of the PBR period, revenues and incurred expenses for tree trimming will be excluded from the indexing mechanism and from recorded base rate revenue expenses before SDG&B calculates its actual earned rate of return for revenue sharing purposes.' In addition, costs attributable to senior executive retirement plans or executive bonuses are also excluded from the indexing mechanism and from earnings sharing during the PBR period. The costs for the Natural Gas Vehicle (NGV) program will be excluded for the year 2000 update rule because they are recovered under the NGV balancing account, which is expected to be eliminated at the end of 2000. Future costs related to the Catastrophic Event Memorandum Account (CEMA) and the Gas Hazardous Substance Cost

¹ If SDG&E achieves and documents a 50% reduction in tree-trimming expenses from its 1999 budget, SDG&E may request termination of balancing account treatment.

Recovery Account will be recovered through those respective balancing accounts, not through the PBR.

Offramps

SDG&E proposes to retain the offramps existing in its base rate PBR mechanism. There is a voluntary offramp at 150 basis points below the authorized rate of return and a mandatory review of the mechanism if SDG&E's actual rate of return varies by 300 basis points from the authorized rate of return.

SDG&E does not propose a new mechanism to update for changes in the cost of capital. SDG&E's current cost of capital mechanism, the MICAM, is proposed to continue unless changed by the cost of capital proceeding which is to be filed in May 1998.¹⁰ The results of that proceeding will be incorporated into the 1999 starting point rates. Changes resulting from the MICAM or any subsequent mechanism will be incorporated in future annual indexing changes.

Elimination of the Gas Fixed Cost Account (GFCA)

SDG&E proposes to eliminate the GFCA as it applies to SDG&E's gas base costs as of the beginning of 1999. SDG&E maintains this approach is consistent with Commission policy and with its proposed establishment for rate indexing. On the electric side, ERAM was eliminated in D.97-10-057. SDG&E explains that there is no reason to track differences between forecasted and actual sales with a rate index PBR mechanism.

ORA's Proposal

ORA agrees that a rate indexing mechanism should be adopted, but otherwise prefers a PBR mechanism modeled after SoCalGas' PBR. ORA

5

¹⁰ SDG&E's cost of capital application was filed in May 1998. A decision in that proceeding is expected in the Spring of 1999.

proposes that a stretch factor be added to SDG&E's proposed productivity factors, that a 25-basis-point deadband be adopted, and that a progressive sharing mechanism similar to SoCalGas' be adopted. ORA contends that there is little evidence to support the workings of SDG&E's proposed self-calibration mechanism, which has not been adopted by any other public utilities commission in the United States. ٩

ORA recommends that a stretch factor of 100 basis points be applied to the productivity factors proposed by SDG&E. ORA points out that all other energy utilities operating under a PBR mechanism have stretch factors incorporated within their productivity factors. ORA dismisses SDG&E's use of the results of the Christensen Associates' study of the productivity of a national sample of utilities, which recommends a .92% productivity factor for electric and .68% for gas operations. ORA reminds us that the component utilities in this study consisted largely of utilities subject to traditional cost of service regulation. ORA contends that basing an average productivity factor on utilities under such traditional regulation results in only an average productivity factor, which is not appropriate to be applied to SDG&E. ORA recommends that we consider a paper prepared by the National Economic Research Associates (NERA) (Reference Item G). This study found that the average total factor productivity of electric utilities increased by 2.08% per year over the period 1984-1994, which is even greater than the 1.94% ORA proposes for electric operations.

While ORA admits that the mechanics of SDG&E's proposed escalation methodology may result in more challenging productivity improvements, ORA submits that this effect is irrelevant. ORA recommends that use of a utilityspecific inflation index is appropriate because it reflects the actual inflationary pressures experienced by the distribution utility, rather than a more broadly based measure that reflects the performance of all sectors of the economy.

- 31 -

ORA asserts that SDG&E's proposed mechanism is inequitable and continues the results of the base rate PBR. In ORA's view, the fact that SDG&E was able to earn approximately \$130 million above its authorized rate of return over the past four years, with ratepayers receiving approximately \$11 million, is evidence that the previous PBR mechanism was overly generous to shareholders. ORA believes that a more equitable mechanism would have shared the \$130 million equally between shareholders and ratepayers. ORA explains that the majority of the \$130 million accruing to shareholders came from earnings within SDG&E's deadband. ORA fears that the wide deadband proposed by SDG&E in this proceeding could lead to similar results. Thus, ORA recommends that a 25-basis-point deadband be adopted for SDG&E, identical to that adopted for SoCalGas.

While ORA supports a rate indexing mechanism because this approach sends the proper signals to utility management to control costs of operation, ORA also recommends that any excess earnings above the authorized rate of return be used to accelerate the recovery of transition costs. Under ORA's proposal, these excess earnings would be credited to the Transition Cost Balancing Account (TCBA). "ORA does not believe that increasing electric sales should lead to higher profits for SDG&E absent some improved corporate performance that accompanies those increased sales." (ORA opening brief, at p. 14.)

ORA recommends the same progressive sharing approach adopted for SoCalGas. ORA maintains that this approach correctly aligns shareholder and ratepayer interests by awarding an increasingly higher proportion of earnings above the authorized rate of return to shareholders when SDG&E achieves more difficult efficiencies and cost savings.

ORA supports SDG&E's proposed Z-factor treatment, but also urges us to apply Z-factor treatment to Postretirement Benefits Other than Pensions (PBOPs).

- 32 -

According to ORA, several decisions state that PBOP costs shall be recovered through a Z-factor adjustment in annual filings. If this approach is not adopted, ORA is concerned that unreasonable windfall profits will accrue to utility shareholders. ORA contends that the Z-factor ratemaking approach for PBOPs applies to energy utilities as well as telecommunication utilities.

ORA supports SDG&E's proposal to eliminate the GFCA, but recommends that it be terminated as of April 30, 1999, which is the date that coincides with the ending month of the account's annual cycle. The GFCA records the difference between authorized base revenue requirement and recovery of base revenues plus other charges related to the transportation and delivery of gas. The Commission authorizes the base revenue requirement and a recovery rate based on predicted volumes or gas sales as part of SDG&E's Biennial Cost Allocation Proceedings (BCAP). The purpose of the GFCA is to track expenses and revenues over an annual cycle and the account's over- or undercollection at the end of the cycle depends on how closely actual sales match forecasted sales.

ORA is concerned that SDG&E's proposal to terminate the account as of January 1, 1999 would result in considering only a partial yearly cycle for this last year, which would result in SDG&E accruing an undercollection of as much as \$8 million, which would then have to be collected from ratepayers. This effect occurs because residential heating loads cause monthly revenues to accrue to the GFCA in a consistent annual pattern. Revenues collected December through March exceed recorded expenses, while revenues collected April through November are not equal to expenses. Therefore, the account's balance is generally closer to zero at the end of the winter heating season, and ORA recommends that this account be terminated at that time,

- 33 -

UCAN's Proposal

UCAN believes that a PBR mechanism must demonstrably benefit customers and should be designed to put downward pressure on rates. UCAN argues that the PBR mechanism should model competition where it does not exist and that the interests of the ratepayers are a critical consideration in approving a PBR proposal.

UCAN recommends that a revenue-per-customer index method be adopted for a PBR mechanism to last five years, expiring at the time when the merger savings mechanism expires. UCAN asserts that the revenue-percustomer methodology counters SDG&E's incentive to increase sales, is consistent with Christensen Associates' study of productivity estimates, avoids the problem of windfalls accruing to SDG&E, and sends proper signals regarding costs, i.e., to reduce utility energy service costs per customer. UCAN explains that the revenue-per-customer approach can be implemented using recorded data, although it agrees that a demand forecast is necessary for purposes of retaining the GFCA.

UCAN asserts that a PBR mechanism must distinguish between monopoly and competitive services and therefore recommends that three separate PBR mechanisms be adopted. UCAN asserts that under a single PBR mechanism, SDG&E could cross-subsidize efficiency losses in one area with gains in another and recommends that the PBR mechanisms should be separately unbundled into electric wires, electric metering and billing, gas pipes, and gas metering and billing.

UCAN believes that SDG&E's proposed productivity factors are too low. UCAN states that SDG&E's current productivity level is 1.5% and should not be decreased to .92% on the electric side. UCAN explains that an X factor or an indexing method should be selected so that ratepayers are at least as well off

- 34 -

under PBR regulation as they would have been under traditional ratemaking. Because SDG&E's electric revenues will increase more rapidly than the increase in the number of customers as throughput per customer grows, UCAN asserts that SDG&E's revenues are weighted towards throughput. Therefore, Christensen Associates' model which is based largely on number of customers served is inappropriate. 4

ŧ

UCAN agrees that a "base" productivity factor of 0.92% for electricity and 0.68% for gas, assuming revenue per customer, is appropriate. UCAN also recommends that a stretch factor be applied to these base figures and argues that stretch factors are appropriately applied to industries facing competitive pressure. UCAN recommends a stretch factor of 0.75% for electric and gas distribution and 1.00% for metering and billing, because communications technologies and impacts of competition are improving productivity more rapidly. As adjusted for issues addressed by the cost of service settlement and to remove one-time costs, as demonstrated in Exhibit 32, updated by Exhibit 33, UCAN proposes a productivity factor of 1.9% for the PBR applying to electric wires (electric distribution), 2.0% for the PBR applying to electric and gas metering and billing, and 2.2% for the PBR applying to gas pipes (gas transmission and distribution).

UCAN believes that it is critical to adopt a similar sharing mechanism as is established for SoCalGas. UCAN asserts that SDG&E and SoCalGas share gas service persons, customer service functions and allocate common administrative and general (A&G) costs. Therefore, UCAN agrees with ORA that a progressive earnings sharing mechanism similar to SoCalGas' should be adopted, with a 25-basis-point deadband for electric and gas distribution and no sharing of losses, but recommends that the GFCA be retained.

UCAN recommends a different deadband for electric and gas metering and billing functions. UCAN proposes that a deadband of after-tax profits above the benchmark rate of return equal to 1% of total metering and billing revenues be used for earnings sharing in the proposed metering and billing PBR. UCAN explains that this figure is approximately equal to the combined electric and gas distribution deadbands as a percentage of revenue and reflects the GFCA.

UCAN recommends that ratepayers receive 70% of incremental sharing immediately above the deadband, which would decline linearly to a 10% ratepayer share at 300 basis points above the benchmark, or 10% of revenue for metering and billing. This approach would encourage savings by SDG&E while ensuring that ratepayers obtain significant sharing over a wide range of outcomes.

UCAN recommends that the GFCA be retained because gas sales fluctuations are largely weather driven. More importantly, UCAN believes that eliminating the GFCA creates perverse incentives under any PBR mechanism, but particularly under SDG&E's calibrated sharing mechanism. According to UCAN, very cold weather could increase sales and result in a large cash surplus accruing to SDG&E, which must then be spent or returned to customers. UCAN maintains that this perverse incentive prompts SDG&E's proposal to implement a wide deadband, but argues that retaining the GFCA eliminates risk and has the advantage of narrowing the deadband required by SDG&E.

UCAN agrees that Z factors should be limited to those costs successfully meeting the nine criteria adopted for Edison and SoCalGas. UCAN proposes limited Z factors and offramps and maintains that public purpose programs should be excluded from PBR treatment, as well as direct access costs, pensions, premium payments made by affiliates for labor transfers and intellectual property, generation-related franchise fees, and nonrecurring costs. UCAN

- 36 -

asserts that we should also consider reopening the PBR structure in the event that significant changes are made to the responsibility of the utility for providing services or equipment. UCAN argues that the 150-basis-point voluntary offramp should be removed, but that the 300-basis-point offramp be expanded to 400 basis points.

FEA's Proposal

FEA recommends a rate index similar to that in place for Edison. FEA believes that a rate index is logical and straightforward and opposes a revenueper-customer approach. FEA contends that the proposed productivity factor for electric operations is too low and recommends a Multi-Factor Productivity (MFP) analysis yielding a productivity factor of 1.17%.

FEA prefers Edison's progressive sharing mechanism based on return on equily, but does not oppose the use of SoCalGas' progressive sharing based on a benchmark rate of return. FEA asserts that SDG&E's proposed deadband is too wide and would allow SDG&E to reap substantial benefits. FEA explains that this proposed deadband is equivalent to \$24 million in revenues and \$14.5 million in operating income, assuming a tax rate of 40%. While acknowledging that the deadband encompasses both gains and losses, FEA is concerned that the first \$14.5 million of benefits (or losses) would go to shareholders before customers see any benefits. FEA assumes that since the PBR is designed to encourage improvements in productivity, SDG&E would tend to seek out efficiencies and earn in excess of its benchmark rate of return, all things being equal.

FEA points out that the deadbands for other mechanisms are significantly more narrow than 100 basis points. Edison has a PBR with an earnings sharing deadband of 50 basis points above or below authorized return on equity. Since equity comprises approximately 50% of SDG&E's capital structure, a 50-basis-

- 37 -

point deadband on return on equity translates to a 25-basis-point deadband on authorized rate of return. The SoCalGas earnings sharing deadband is 25 basis points above the benchmark rate of return, but has no similar deadband for losses.

FEA believes SDG&E's proposed 20% calibration mechanism is inequitable to customers. FEA recommends a progressive sharing mechanism, as is currently in place for both Edison and SoCalGas. FEA asserts that this progressive structure is more reasonable because it provides customers with the benefit of most of the initial savings gains, which are those most easily accomplished. As more difficult efficiency gains are achieved, shareholders appropriately retain more earnings.

FEA believes that the self-calibrating mechanism benefits customers only in circumstances where there is a large one-time savings which is not repeated in subsequent years. As Exhibit 6 demonstrates, FEA expects that productivity benefits would compound over time. FEA doubts the tax savings benefit of the self-calibration mechanism alleged by SDG&E. FEA maintains that for tax purposes, it is immaterial whether the utility makes a one-time refund to ratepayers or reduces rates by the same amount.

FEA states that Exhibits 100 and 101 demonstrate that the Edison and SoCalGas PBR mechanisms are more favorable to customers than the SDG&E proposed approach. SDG&E's mechanism benefits consumers where earnings are below the authorized rate of return, which is contrary to PBR expectations.

NRDC's Proposal

NRDC recommends that a revenue-per-customer indexing mechanism be adopted, rather than a rate indexing approach. NRDC contends that SDG&E's proposed approach creates perverse incentives, because it would reward SDG&E for load building and sales increases. As demonstrated in Exhibit 24, a 2% sales

increase results in an \$11.8 million increase in revenues, which approximates a 5% increase in profits. NRDC maintains that because a rate indexing mechanism creates penalties (in terms of reduced profits) for reduced sales, this approach would create a disincentive for SDG&E to pursue energy efficiency and other demand-side management (DSM) measures. NRDC explains that the utilities will have a continued role in administering DSM programs until the end of 1999 and may continue to act as contract administrators after that time. NRDC asserts that such disincentives could lead to discouraging affiliates from investing in energy efficiency or promoting energy consuming appliances, as has occurred for other utility distribution companies. For these reasons, NRDC predicts that a rate indexing mechanism will have adverse environmental impacts.

NRDC therefore supports UCAN's proposal for a revenue-per-customer indexing methodology. For electricity, the rates in the current period would be adjusted for three factors in order to determine rates for the next period. First, current period rates would be multiplied by the update rule (i.e., 1+ escalation -X). Second, this result would be multiplied by customer growth (1 + customer growth). Third, this result is divided by (1 + growth in weather adjusted sales per customer). The revenue-per-customer methodology requires deriving two calculations: customer growth and weather-adjusted sales per customer, which can be obtained from recorded data. NRDC notes that this approach is similar to that adopted for SoCalGas.

NRDC observes that certain concerns were expressed in Edison's PBR proceeding regarding the revenue requirement indexing approach, which included the need for controversial sales forecasts or balancing accounts, the need for customer forecasts, incremental cost forecasts, and growth allowances, which are all eliminated in the revenue-per-customer mechanism. While acknowledging ORA's support for the rate indexing approach, NRDC explains

- 39 -

that ORA criticizes the "windfall profits" SDG&E stands to benefit from under this approach and ORA proposes that earnings above the authorized rate of return be applied to the TCBA to pay off transition costs as quickly as possible. (Exhibit 24, p. 1-8.)

NRDC also recommends that a distributed resources performance indicator be adopted. Distributed resources are also known as distributed generation. On December 17, 1998, we instituted Rulemaking (R.) 98-12-015, in which we defined distributed generation as follows:

"Also referred to as 'distributed energy resources' (DER) or 'distributed resources' (DR). [Distributed generation] generally refers to generation, storage, or demand-side management (DSM) devices, measures, and/or technologies that are connected to or injected into the distribution level of the transmission and distribution (T&D) grid (i.e., "below" the bulk power transmission system). Micro-turbines, fuel cells, photovoltaics, wind turbines, and flywheels are some examples of [distributed generation] technologies. Because these devices are more modular and flexible than a large central power station, they can be located at the customer's premises on either the system side or the customer side of the meter, or at other points in the distribution system such as a UDC substation. [Distributed generation] covers a wide range of technologies and is not exclusively limited to cogeneration." (R.98-12-015, mimeo. at p. 2.)

Because distributed generation has the potential to offer significant environmental and economic benefits and because the UDCs may have an important role to play in facilitating the use of these resources, NRDC advocates implementing a performance indicator rewarding SDG&E for such facilitation. NRDC maintains that SDG&E has no incentive to facilitate the use of distributed generation under current regulation and would have a disincentive to encourage distributed generation under a rate index. Even under a revenue-per-customer approach, NRDC believes that SDG&E would be neutral in encouraging use of distributed generation technologies. Therefore, NRDC recommends ²

implementing a performance indicator which applies a reward or penalty of \$3 million to provide the necessary incentive. NRDC proposes that this performance indicator be adopted in the PBR proceeding, but that details of the performance indicator be developed in the rulemaking. NRDC recognizes that it is somewhat unusual to propose such a placeholder, but asserts that it is important to do so now rather than wait until the term of this PBR has expired to develop such an incentive mechanism.

City of San Diego's Proposal

In its opening brief, City of San Diego supports a rate indexing mechanism, but recommends that a stretch factor be incorporated into SDG&E's proposed productivity factors. City of San Diego points out that a margin should be included in the productivity factors to protect consumers from inexact forecasts of future productivity trends and recommends that SDG&E be encouraged to stretch beyond the amount of historical productivity in the utility industry, which is one of the main purposes of PBR regulation. City of San Diego recommends comparable productivity factors to those adopted to Edison and SoCalGas: 1.2%, 1.4%, and 1.6% on the electric side and 1.2%, 1.3%, and 1.4% on the gas side. These values represent a midway position between the high and low proposals in this proceeding. Because SDG&E competes within the same industry within Southern California, City of San Diego believes productivity improvements should be roughly similar.

City of San Diego essentially supports ORA's proposal and recommends that a progressive earnings sharing mechanism similar to SoCalGas' be adopted. City of San Diego asserts that the merged utilities should share the same type of PBR mechanism and thinks consumers in San Diego should benefit from the same type of mechanism enjoyed by consumers in SoCalGas' service territory. City of San Diego prefers SoCalGas' approach over Edison's because ratepayers

- 41 -

are insulated from downside risk, i.e., they do not share in losses below the authorized rate of return. However, City of San Diego recommends a 50-basis-point deadband rather than a 25-basis-point deadband because if the GFCA is eliminated, SDG&E is at greater risk from sales fluctuations in gas throughput than is SoCalGas. City of San Diego also believes that SDG&E should be rewarded for proposing an electric escalation factor based on utility industry inputs which is less advantageous to shareholders.

Monitoring and Evaluation Stipulation

SDG&E and UCAN each submitted recommendations concerning measurement and evaluation of the proposed distribution PBR mechanism. Because the cost of service settlement adopted in D.98-12-038 includes a cost of service review in 2002, these parties were able to reach stipulation on measurement and evaluation issues.

The stipulation proposes that by February 15 of each year, SDG&E will file an annual electric distribution report that addresses the performance indicators and earnings sharing results for the previous calendar year. This report will be filed by advice letter with the Commission's Energy Division. Within 45 days after the end of each calendar quarter, SDG&E will submit quarterly reports to the Energy Division and interested parties that address the 12 months-to-date sharing and year-to-date performance indicator results. SDG&E and UCAN believe that a cost of service review in 2002 precludes the necessity for a comprehensive review. Future evaluative reports will be determined in those cost of service proceedings.

SDG&E and UCAN recommend that performance over the 1999-2001 time frame be reviewed in a timely fashion so that this analysis can be incorporated into the 2002 cost of service proceeding. These parties suggest that the evaluation process begin early in 2001 with a workshop facilitated by the Energy Division.

- 42 -

The goals of this workshop would be to develop appropriate evaluative criteria for the review, establish whether an independent review is necessary, and, if so, how it should be conducted.

SDG&E and UCAN suggest that an independent evaluation may be necessary if the Energy Division and ORA indicate that they cannot conduct a timely and comprehensive evaluation of the PBR mechanism. According to the stipulation, the parties would select the independent consultant using a Request for Proposal (RFP) process not to exceed \$400,000. SDG&E and UCAN suggest that the cost of this consultant be shared equally between the ratepayers and shareholders. If parties can't agree on a consultant, the Energy Division would select the consultant based on nominations from the parties. The consultant would enter into a contract with SDG&E, approved by the Energy Division. SDG&E would be able to submit its own evaluative report at the same time other parties or the independent consultant submit their reports.

SDG&E and UCAN suggest that the goals of this PBR mechanism should be articulated in this decision and evaluation of the mechanism should be based on these goals.

Discussion

SDG&E recommends a "new and innovative approach" to PBR and incentive regulation. While several PBR mechanisms are in place, we have not developed consistent and rigorous evaluative criteria. Thus, we do not yet have measurable results delineating how incentive ratemaking motivates utility management. We are always open to consideration of a "new and innovative approach" to PBR ratemaking that will serve the public interest and achieve our broadly stated goals related to PBR regulation. However, we are not convinced that the SDG&E proposal is the best approach to meeting our goals.

Rather, we are persuaded that the most reasonable and prudent approach is to model SDG&E's distribution PBR mechanism after that adopted for SoCalGas where applicable, and for Edison where applicable. ORA, UCAN, and NRDC support the SoCalGas approach as a matter of general principle, as does the City of San Diego. SDG&E's approach is different from both the SoCalGas or Edison approaches, but has elements of both. While we have often stated that "one size does not fit all" in terms of applying PBR mechanisms to California's utilities, the record demonstrates that adopting a mechanism incorporating elements of both PBRs (although not as proposed by SDG&E) allows both the shareholders and the customers to benefit.

The term of the adopted PBR is 1999 through 2002. D.98-12-038 adopted a cost of service settlement, in which parties have agreed that SDG&E must file a 2003 cost of service study no later than December 21, 2001. We affirm that recommendation here. We also make provisions for a comprehensive review, as discussed below. There is no dispute regarding the escalation methodology proposed by SDG&E; therefore, we adopt this methodology. (See Attachment 1.)

While we agree with UCAN that a PBR mechanism must distinguish between monopoly and competitive services, we will not adopt the proposal to establish separate PBR mechanisms for electric wires, electric metering and billing, gas pipes, and gas metering and billing. Although we are exploring the competitive nature of metering and billing services, UCAN's proposal is premature. In addition, this approach would add needless complexity to the PBR mechanism.

However, we recognize it is possible that SDG&E could subsidize efficiency losses in competitive services with gains in monopoly services. Therefore, we will consider this issue during the comprehensive review and will require parties to develop monitoring and evaluative criteria to track such

- 44 -

possibilities, as discussed below. Similarly, we are not convinced that a performance indicator for distributed generation should be established at this time. NRDC's proposal is premature. Such performance indicators should be established if we develop a particular approach for distributed generation, as determined in R.98-12-015.

The PBR Indexing Formula

We must choose between two proposals for the indexing formula: a rate indexing formula or a revenue-per-customer formula. We adopt the rate indexing approach. A primary purpose of PBR regulation is to provide the proper incentives to SDG&E management. We assume that SDG&E management will then act on those incentives. The rate indexing approach provides an incentive to increase sales. The revenue-per-customer approach attempts to mute this incentive by eliminating the opportunity to profit from sales increases which do not result from management actions.

However, we prefer a Rate Indexing mechanism for several reasons. First it is a simpler mechanism, requiring fewer calculations and adjustments. Second, it is closer to the Edison mechanism which is more comparable in this instance to the SDG&E situation; the SoCalGas revenue/customer index was substantially dictated by the Global Settlement. Third, the NRDC environmental concerns are being addressed through other policies. SDG&E is required by AB 1890 to spend \$32 million/year on demand-side management and energy efficiency programs. SDG&E has been operating under a rate indexing method throughout its PBR experiment; no party represents that SDG&E has failed to put forth appropriate efforts to achieve energy efficiency. There are other related policies implemented for similar environmental purposes; for example, the California Energy Commission has allocated many millions for renewables credits and other related programs designed to mitigate plant emissions. The rate indexing method also

- 45 -

comports with our goal of using PBR mechanisms to assist the utilities in making the transition from a tightly regulated structure to one that is more competitive. We will adopt the rate indexing mechanism and address any potential windfall by an adjustment to the mechanism. While recommending a rate index, ORA also recommends that all excess revenues be used to offset transition costs. ORA proposes this approach because of the concern that SDG&E could earn windfall profits due to a sales increase, but admits that we have rejected this approach in D.97-10-057. ORA also advocates eliminating the GFCA, but proposes delaying its elimination due to concern over another potential windfall because of timing. ORA thus strongly caution us against a potential sales windfall. As discussed below, we will adopt a modification to the sharing mechanism to mitigate against this windfall.

We eliminated the ERAM and Energy Cost Adjustment Clause (ECAC) balancing accounts because of changes in the regulatory environment. Under our adopted PBR, it is also appropriate to eliminate the GFCA, to eliminate balancing account treatment for sales volatility. While SDG&E now argues that a wide deadband is required to absorb the risk of sales volatility, it would be inappropriate to now allow SDG&E a large deadband to essentially absorb the "risk" of sales volatility, when it can generally be expected from historical trends that sales will increase, and under a rate index SDG&E will have an incentive to increase sales when advantageous to shareholders. We will adopt ORA's proposal to terminate the GFCA, however, we must determine the most appropriate date on which to do so.

SDG&E proposed ending the gas margin component of the GFCA on January 1, 1999, and establishing another account for the remaining portions of the GFCA. ORA agreed that the GFCA should be eliminated, but proposed ending the GFCA on April 30, 1999. ORA's position is that the GFCA should be

- 46 -

terminated as of whatever month the GFCA began operation to more accurately account for seasonal adjustments. It was later determined during hearings that the GFCA was initially established in May 1988, but that it may have been implemented to close out several other accounts, and there may have been a change in the way the account was calculated in August 1991.

SDG&E opposed during hearings an April 30th termination date simply to avoid "customer confusion" about an additional rate change. SDG&E stated that "... if you look at the way balancing accounts are set up, it doesn't really matter when you terminate the balancing account." (Trans. pg. 247.) However, in its Reply Brief, SDG&E stated that an April 30th termination date would "...harm SDG&E because a revenue shortfall would occur during the first quarter of 1999." (SDG&E Reply Brief, pg. 16.) Later, in its Comments on the Alternate Proposed Decision of Commissioner Bilas, dated March 11, 1999, SDG&E stated that it would not be able to collect its authorized gas revenue requirement in 1999 if the GFCA was eliminated on April 30, 1999. SDG&E stated that it would under-recover its 1999 gas authorized margin by \$30 million. SDG&E's forecast of its under-recovery, and its concerns regarding the 1999 calendar year shortfall were not made on the record as written or oral testimony.

The main purpose of the GFCA is to allow SDG&B to recover its authorized gas margin while balancing out the effect of actual gas sales compared to forecasted sales. The account itself balances primarily gas margin with actual revenues. As shown by Exhibit 16, the account is generally undercollected from the spring through late fall, and then overcollected in the winter through early spring. Not considering the other components of the GFCA, if the account balance is near zero, then SDG&E will have recovered its authorized gas margin through that point in time. The amortization of the GFCA balance also impacts the amount of the balance at any point in time.

It is difficult to determine from the record evidence of this case the exact starting date for the GFCA since the GFCA was not an entirely new account when it was established in May 1988. Our D.87-12-039 ordered that the GFCA be established, partly in accordance with a settlement filed in I.86-06-005. The GFCA balance was a consolidation of previously existing accounts, the Consolidated Adjustment Mechanism (CAM) and the Supply Adjustment Mechanism (SAM). SDG&E has stated in its Reply Brief and in its Comments on the Alternate Decision that the SAM was established in August 1978. In addition, it appears that the types of costs which have been included in the GFCA, and the manner in which the balance has been calculated, has changed over the years.

We generally agree with ORA that it is appropriate for SDG&E to go through a full "cycle", but we are not able to determine from the record exactly what that cycle should be. SDG&E voiced its concerns about a forecasted underrecovery of its authorized revenue requirements not in testimony subject to rebuttal, but after hearings were concluded. Its testimony was that it really does not matter when the account is terminated, that the GFCA may have been a consolidation of other accounts, and that changes to the method of calculation were made in August 1991. Based on the record in this proceeding, we find that the most appropriate resolution of this matter is to simply end the GFCA as the balance next approaches zero. This would allow SDG&E to fully recover its authorized gas margin under the GFCA, while allowing for the impact of actual gas sales compared to forecasted sales. SDG&E should file an advice letter the month before it forecasts the balance will next approach zero, but no later than November 1, 1999. The advice letter should include the termination of the GFCA and an amortization methodology for any remaining balance.

SDG&B explained in its testimony (Exhibit 14, p. 14-5) that the GFCA reflects the recovery of the base cost revenue amounts and other charges related

- 48 -

to the transportation and delivery of gas. These "other" charges represent the carrying cost of storage inventory, the recorded transportation charges billed to SDG&E by SoCalGas, and amounts collected for the recovery of franchise fees and uncollectibles. SDG&E proposed that the only GFCA component which should be discontinued is the base cost balancing component, while the "other" costs and revenues should continue to be recorded in a new account. This proposal was unopposed, and we will adopt it.

Using the rate indexing methodology, rates will be determined as follows. The "starting point" for electric distribution and gas rates will be the 1999 authorized rates as determined in the Cost of Service portion of this proceeding in D.98-12-038. In subsequent years, through 2002, electric distribution and gas rates will be determined by multiplying the "update rule" formula, i.e. 1 + inflation - productivity, by the previous year's rates. This formula will be applied to each electric distribution and gas transportation rate and rate component, as described in Exhibit 82, pg. PBR13A-2. Consistent with our policy to use the most recent sales forecast, SDG&E shall file an advice letter after the new sales forecast is adopted in A.98-01-031, SDG&E's Biennial Cost Allocation Proceeding (BCAP) to update the gas sales forecast in the PBR.

We are not adopting SDG&E's proposal for a "permanent" rate adjustment if a revenue sharing adjustment is needed. If a revenue sharing adjustment results from SDG&E's previous year's performance under the PBR, this will be made as a "one-time" adjustment to the rates calculated using the update rule. SDG&E shall file an advice letter by October 1 of each year to implement the rate adjustment.

Productivity

SDG&E proposes productivity factors of 0.92% for electric and 0.68% for gas. SDG&E's proposed productivity factors are based on a study by

- 49 -

Christensen Associates. The Christensen study is largely based on companies under traditional regulation. However, one of the chief objectives of PBR regulation is to simulate competition. The premise of incentive regulation is that competitive companies are more efficient and productive.

SDG&E does not propose a stretch factor, asserting that this is no longer appropriate for its proposal. SDG&E appears to implicitly assume that as long as SDG&E performs mildly better than the historical average productivity, 100% of the gain should accrue to shareholders, with no benefit to ratepayers. In the SoCalGas PBR, an additional stretch factor was adopted due to SoCalGas' declining rate base. SDG&E recommends that no productivity adder is necessary to account for declining rate base. We agree that while <u>total</u> rate base is declining due to decreases in generation rate base, SDG&E's rate base in electric distribution and gas department rate base is not declining, and is actually increasing.

Both ORA and UCAN agree to the base historical productivity figures, but propose that stretch factors also be applied.. (See, e.g., Exhibit 24, p. 2-1.) ORA is the only other party that presented testimony specifically on the Christensen study. While ORA recognizes that SDG&E's approach of basing the X factor on industry-wide estimates of TFP growth is consistent with past Commission decisions, ORA also found merit in the NERA study. For the purpose of establishing an appropriate productivity benchmark, we agree with ORA that it is reasonable to consider the Christensen results as the lower bound in the range of productivity, which supports the addition of a productivity stretch factor (Exhibit 24, p. 2-15).

UCAN also argues that SDG&E's proposal for a rate indexing mechanism is inconsistent with the Christensen study's productivity estimates. UCAN notes that the output measures in the study are heavily weighted to the number of

- 50 -

customers served. We are not convinced by UCAN's arguments. The productivity estimates are independent of what type of PBR is authorized. The SDG&E productivity estimates are reasonable on their merits.

FEA recommends a total productivity factor similar to that adopted for Edison. This productivity factor was based on Edison's historical productivity factors of 0.9% for nongeneration plus a small stretch factor. In D.96-09-092, we adopted a total productivity factor of 1.2% for 1997, which then increased to 1.4% in 1998, and 1.6% thereafter. The stretch factor averages about 0.5%. We stated a precise forecast of productivity was unnecessary, because the progressive revenue sharing would allow ratepayers to keep more of the achievable productivity gain. We note that the Edison historical factor is quite close to the 0.92% productivity factor which Christensen Associates calculated for SDG&E's electric department. While SDG&E emphasizes that the Edison productivity factor was adopted because of the absence of an "industry-wide" study, this was only one of several considerations we made in determining the appropriate productivity factor for Edison.

SDG&E asserts that the consumer price index (CPI) adopted for Edison is likely higher than the inflation factor proposed here, so one should not strictly make a direct comparison to Edison's productivity factor. But as the City of San Diego reminds us, the inflation factor will be reviewed again for Edison in its midterm review. Further, we assume that the inflation factor presented by SDG&E, which was unopposed, is reasonably accurate. Therefore, its relation to the Edison inflation factor should not be a consideration in determining the productivity factor.

SDG&E's O&M productivity growth rate under its current PBR was a modified 1.5% and SDG&E easily exceeded its authorized rate of return. Based on evidence from recent years, we do not expect SDG&E's productivity to

decrease significantly. We agree with ORA that it is not reasonable to adopt an average productivity target, which would allow SDG&E to rest on its laurels in terms of achieving productivity gains. (ORA reply brief, p. 12.)

SDG&E argues that if consistency with SoCalGas is desired, the implied stretch factor should be no more than 0.7%. SDG&E refers to ORA's testimony in A.97-12-020, Pacific Gas and Electric's (PG&E) general rate case (GRC) proceeding, in which ORA characterizes SDG&E as being at the "efficiency frontier." When taken in context, however, this is a technical term used by the ORA consultant on productivity benchmarking in the PG&E GRC for efficient utilities." SDG&E also argues that the results of the PBR experiment, which showed returns well into the sharing range, have been taken into account in the cost of service agreement. Further, SDG&E argues that since it has been operating under a PBR for several years, the incentives of a continuing PBR do not present the same opportunity for stretch productivity as there would be when first embarking upon a PBR (as compared to cost of service regulation). On the other hand, we believe that a PBR system provides utilities with continuing incentives to find more and better productivity opportunities.

On the whole, a productivity factor that includes a stretch factor of 0.4% to 0.7% (for an average of 0.55%) is appropriate, reasonably consistent with the productivity factors adopted for SoCalGas, and fair in view of all the evidence. As we stated in D.97-05-054:

¹¹ In A.97-12-020, ORA's consultant indicates that transmission and distribution (T&D) utilities are more efficient than a general vertically integrated utility in their T&D operations. As a utility sheds its generation function, and concentrates on its T&D function, it can be expected that the utility would become more efficient in its T&D operations. (ETI testimony by R. Silkman at pp. 32-33.)

"It is appropriate to 'set the bar high' in the expectation that SoCal will, indeed, stretch to maximize productivity. Were we to set too low a goal, SoCal's benefit could come at the expense of the ratepayers, even allowing for a sharing mechanism. There would be no advantage to adopting such a PBR over traditional ratemaking methodology. Nevertheless, we recognize that productivity improvements are not likely to occur all at once." (D.97-07-054, mimeo. at p. 29.)

It is reasonable to ramp up the stretch factor incrementally over the term of the PBR, which recognizes both that productivity improvement will not occur all at once and that SDG&E's escalation factor is lower than the CPI. We will adopt a stretch factor that increases over the term of the PBR mechanism, resulting in an X factor on the electric side of 1.32% in 2000, 1.47% in 2001, and 1.62% in 2002. On the gas side, we adopt an X factor of 1.08% in 2000, 1.23% in 2001, and 1.38% in 2002.

Earnings Sharing Mechanism

We reject SDG&E's proposed earnings sharing approach. The calibration method could lead to potentially unintended consequences. We reject SDG&E's •proposal for several reasons. SDG&E's proposed revenue sharing (or earnings sharing) deadband (100 basis points above and below the authorized ROR) is too wide and the percentage of revenue sharing by ratepayers (a fixed 20% outside the deadband) is too low. There are certain perverse incentives inherent in SDG&E's proposal. SDG&E may have a disincentive beyond a certain point to continue lowering costs if it knows that rates will go down on a permanent basis, since rate reductions will make it more difficult to achieve favorable rates of returns. Even SDG&E concedes that this problem exists and recommends that the Commission allow a lower ratepayer share to avoid this disincentive. (SDG&E's brief, pp. 5-6.)

SDG&E's proposed revenue sharing (or earnings sharing) deadband (100 basis points above and below the authorized ROR) is too wide and the percentage of revenue sharing by ratepayers (a fixed 20% outside the deadband) is too low. The deadband is approximately four times that adopted for Edison (Exhibit 17, p. 8.) or SoCalGas. Gains or losses would have to be relatively large before being shared with customers. (Exhibit 17, p. 9.) As UCAN points out, very little sharing of revenues above the benchmark has occurred under SDG&E's current PBR, due to the 100 basis point deadband and the low percentage of sharing with ratepayers in the first tier. We have made the same finding in Resolution E-3562, issued on December 17, 1998.

The 20% sharing calibration method does not comport with our regulatory goals, because there is not an equitable sharing of benefits. As FEA points out, under the calibration method, decreases in rates one year would have a negative impact on net operating income the following year. This effect could lead to a lowered incentive to continue to reduce costs, which is contrary to a primary goal of PBR regulation.

The 100 basis point deadband is intended to account for the gains and losses associated with routine operations, including sales and throughput fluctuations. (Exhibit 19.) We prefer to implement a narrow deadband and to eliminate the GFCA as discussed above. We adopt a progressive sharing mechanism, similar to the progressive sharing mechanism that is established for SoCalGas. PU Code § 728 imposes a duty upon us to ensure that utility rates are maintained at a level that is just and reasonable. Under incentive regulation, profits and thus rates, must be maintained at reasonable levels. In D.97-07-054 we explained:

"A sharing mechanism is the ultimate 'safety net' for ratepayers, as it corrects for the possible adoption of a productivity factor that turns out to be overly conservative, understating the productivity

increases which the utility is actually able to achieve. With a sharing mechanism, if the utility attains productivity increases that exceed the adopted productivity factors the resultant profits must be shared with the ratepayers rather than going solely to the utility. If the utility is actually able to reap benefits above the level reflected by the adopted productivity factor, it would not be 'just and reasonable' to require ratepayers to be satisfied with only the share of savings based upon attaining the productivity estimate made at the outset of the program." (D.97-07-054, mimeo. at p. 24.)

The progressive sharing mechanism protects ratepayers in the event that the adopted productivity factors are low, provides a mechanism to encourage SDG&E to stretch for higher levels of cost savings and revenues, and provides the proper incentives by allowing shareholders to retain progressively greater amounts of its earnings. The easy cost savings provide relatively small shareholder benefit, and the progressive tiers would provide a strong incentive for the utility to strive for more difficult savings. (Exhibit 32, pp. 37-38.)

Exhibits 100 and 101 compared the revenue sharing proposals under several scenarios, using the parameters established by the SDG&E proposed mechanism, the SoCalGas mechanism, and the Edison mechanism. While complex, these comparisons demonstrate that a mechanism modeled after the PBR mechanism adopted for SoCalGas is superior to both the Edison mechanism and the SDG&E proposal. Ratepayers receive much smaller shares and are exposed to downside risk under the SDG&E proposal, compared to the SoCalGas mechanism, while shareholders stand to gain huge benefits under the SDG&E proposal.

ORA suggests that SDG&E's sharable earnings go to reducing transition costs in order to allow ratepayers to share in the "windfall" associated with certain sales increases. However, the Commission rejected this idea previously. Further, SDG&E expects transition costs to end this year (and ORA's method would adjust for more than just sales windfall). We prefer instead to adjust the

- 55 -

sharing mechanism to allow ratepayers to capture more of the earnings that would likely come from exogenous sales increases. We will widen the first sharing band from 25 basis points to 50 basis points, where ratepayers receive a higher percentage of sharing. The resulting sharing mechanism would be as follows:

> 0 - 25 bp -- deadband: 100% shareholders 25-75 bp - 75% ratepayers/25% shareholders 75-100 bp - 65% ratepayers, 35% shareholders 100-125 bp - 55% ratepayers, 45% shareholders 125-150 bp - 45% ratepayers, 35% shareholders 150-175 bp - 35% ratepayers, 65% shareholders 175-200 bp - 25% ratepayers, 75% shareholders 200-250 bp - 15% ratepayers, 85% shareholders 250-300 bp -- 5% ratepayers, 95% shareholders

Therefore, we adopt a progressive sharing mechanism with a deadband of 25 basis points above the benchmark rate of return. Shareholders shall receive 100% of earnings up to the level of 25 basis points above the benchmark rate of return and an increasing percentage in steps from 25 up to 300 basis points, above which level shareholders will also receive 100% of the earnings. Similar to our approach in SDG&E's prior base rate PBR mechanism, and as acknowledged by parties in the performance indicator settlement, the calculation of rewards and penalties and the earnings sharing mechanism will be based on a full year for 1999.

Like the mechanism adopted for SoCalGas, we will adopt eight bands between 25 basis points above the benchmark rate of return and 300 basis points above the benchmark rate of return. The first band shall be from 25 to 75 basis points above the benchmark. Shareholders shall receive 25% of the marginal

- 56 -

revenues in this band and ratepayers shall receive 75% of the marginal revenues. Each of the next five successive bands shall be 25 basis points wide and increase the incremental share allocated to shareholders by 10% and decrease the incremental share allocated to ratepayers by 10%. The sixth band shall fall between 175 and 200 basis points above the benchmark, with shareholders receiving 75% and ratepayers 25%. The seventh band shall be between 200 and 250 basis points above the benchmark, with shareholders receiving 85% and ratepayers 15%. The eighth band shall be between 250 and 300 basis points above the benchmark, with shareholders receiving 95% and ratepayers 5%. These bands result in sharing amounts that change in step functions, rather than in a linear fashion, as was adopted for Edison.

This progressive sharing mechanism creates a "win-win" for both shareholders and ratepayers. For earnings above 300 basis points above the benchmark, there is unlimited upside potential for SDG&E. As we determined in D.97-07-054:

"Under this system, shareholders may gain up to 68% of the increment up to 300 basis points above the benchmark. However, as shareholder may keep <u>all</u> of the increment above 300 basis points above the benchmark..., it is possible for shareholders to gain significantly more than 68% of the increment. For example, if returns are 400 basis points above the benchmark, shareholders would retain 76% of the increment. This system given an excellent and increasing incentive to shareholders, and is fair to ratepayers who receive both the 'consumer dividend' in the productivity formula and a larger share of early (and presumably easier) productivity gains." (D.97-07-054, mimeo. at p. 40.)

Z-Factor Treatment

We will adopt Z-factor treatment only for those costs successfully meeting the nine criteria previously adopted for Edison and SoCalGas. In D.96-09-092, we

determined that unexpected events which meet the following criteria would be recoverable as an adjustment to the annual update rule:

1. The event causing the cost must be exogenous to the utility.

2. The event must occur after implementation of the PBR.

3. The utility cannot control the cost.

4. The costs are not a normal cost of doing business.

5. The event affects the utility disproportionately.

6. The PBR update rule must not implicitly include the cost.

7. The cost must have a major impact on the utility.

8. The cost impact must be measurable.

9. The utility must incur the cost reasonably.

We need not consider reopening the PBR structure in the event that significant changes are made to the responsibility of the utility for providing services or equipment at this time, as UCAN suggests, but we can certainly consider such impacts at the comprehensive review, as discussed below.

When a potential Z-factor event occurs, SDG&E must promptly advise us of its occurrence by advice letter and establish a memorandum account for the event. The notification shall provide all relevant information, including a description, amount involved, timing, and how the event conforms to the nine adopted criteria. We will review all such events in the comprehensive review.

For each event, SDG&E's shareholders will absorb the first \$5 million per event of otherwise compensable Z-factor adjustments. This deductible is separately applied to each Z-factor event. The \$5 million deductible should be a one-time deductible per Z-factor event, even if the costs associated with the event are incurred in more than one year.

We will adopt both the 150-basis point voluntary offramp and the 300basis-point mandatory offramp for earnings below the authorized rate of return.

- 58 -

This approach will ensure that there is a mechanism to protect both ratepayers and shareholders from significant deviations in anticipated earnings. In addition, this approach provides increasing incentives to SDG&E because it retains 100% of earnings for increments above 300 basis points above the benchmark. Therefore, SDG&E or ORA may file a motion for voluntary suspension if SDG&E reports net operating income that is at least 150 basis points below its authorized rate of return. If SDG&E reports net operating income indicating a return of 300 or more basis points below its authorized rate of return, the PBR mechanism will be automatically suspended, and we will require SDG&E to file an application which will lead to a formal review of the mechanism.

We adopt the exclusions recommended by the cost of service settlement. Pursuant to D.98-12-038, certain costs will not be included in the PBR mechanism, but are subject to other forms of ratemaking. Tree-trimming expenses are not included in the PBR sharing mechanism, but are subject to a one-way balancing account. As described in D.98-12-038, if SDG&E achieves and documents a 50% reduction in tree-trimming expenses from its 1999 budget, SDG&E may request termination of this balancing account treatment. For the duration of the PBR period, revenues and incurred expenses for tree trimming will be excluded from the indexing mechanism and from recorded base rate revenue expenses before SDG&E calculates its actual earned rate of return for revenue sharing purposes. Costs attributable to senior executive retirement plans or executive bonuses are also excluded from the indexing mechanism and from earnings sharing during the PBR period. The costs for the NGV program will be excluded from the year 2000 update rule because they are recovered under the NGV balancing account, which is expected to be eliminated at the end of 2000. Future costs related to the CEMA and the Gas Hazardous Substance Cost Recovery Account will be recovered through those respective balancing accounts, not through the PBR.

The cost of service settlement also provides that there is not ratepayer contribution to pension expenses.

We agree with SDG&E that exclusions should be kept to a minimum. UCAN recommends that the DSM and research, development and demonstration (RD&D) one-way balancing accounts should be excluded from the PBR. SDG&E states that such one-way balancing accounts are subject to a separate ratemaking treatment and therefore should not be included in the PBR calculation. In effect, these accounts are excluded from the PBR. UCAN also argues that payments made if utility employees are transferred to affiliates should be excluded from the PBR. This appears to be settled in the cost of service settlement, which provides that affiliate payments for such purposes are refunded to ratepayers through the PBR as an offset to any reward SDG&E earns or as an adder to any penalty SDG&E pays. The cost of service settlement also provides that SDG&E may recover \$10.2 million for generation-related franchise fees. If a different recovery mechanism for such fees is authorized in the future, the amount included in electric generation will be adjusted accordingly.

Direct access implementation costs are being addressed in A.98-05-006. The cost of service settlement provides that if SDG&E is not allowed to recover such costs as § 376 costs, SDG&E will record these costs in a new memorandum account and seek recovery through a separate application. UCAN also argues that known and measurable nonrecurring expenses, such as hazardous waste expenses and Year 2000 computer expenses should be excluded from the PBR. The cost of service settlement addresses both issues. Hazardous waste expenses are referred to the Hazardous Waste collaborative. Year 2000 computer expenses are settled at \$1.2 million and are not escalated.

In D.92-12-015, we ordered annual adjustments to Z-factor recovery for PBOP costs for telephone utilities under the New Regulatory Framework (NRF).

- 60 -

The cost of service settlement identified \$1.43 million in PBOP overcollections to be refunded for the years 1993-1997. ORA recommends that SDG&E submit annual requests for PBOP recovery under the Z factor, rather than including PBOP costs within the PBR mechanism itself. SDG&E contends that PBOP costs, just like any other one-time, discrete event, must adhere to the Z-factor criteria. SDG&E asserts that the cost of service settlement resolves the PBOP overcollection issue. Even if it were still an issue, this overcollection would not qualify because it does not meet the \$5 million Z-factor deductible.

No Z-factor treatment was adopted for PBOPs in SoCalGas' PBR mechanism. It appears that Z-factor treatment applies to the change due to accounting differences, which was a transition from cash-basis to accrual accounting, as confirmed in D.97-04-043, mimeo. at p. 23. We will not adopt Z-factor treatment for PBOP recovery.

Monitoring and Evaluation and Comprehensive Review

While SDG&E believes that its current PBR mechanism was effective, ORA, UCAN and other parties strongly disagree with this conclusion. We wish to establish clear objectives related to monitoring and evaluation, building on SDG&E's and UCAN's stipulation. We adopt the reporting requirements proposed by SDG&E and UCAN. By February 15 of each year, SDG&E will file an annual electric distribution report that addresses the performance indicators and earnings sharing results for the previous calendar year. This report will be filed by advice letter with the Commission's Energy Division. Within 45 days after the end of each calendar quarter, SDG&E will submit quarterly reports to the Energy Division and interested parties that address the 12-months-to-date sharing and year-to-date performance indicator results

D.98-12-038 adopted a settlement agreement regarding cost of service issues that included an agreement that the agreed-upon levels of revenues, sales,

- 61 -

expenses, and rate base would be in effect for the years 1999 through 2002, subject to any adjustments made by the Commission. We adopt this same time period for the PBR mechanism. We note that SoCalGas' PBR also expires at the end of 2002. SDG&E is required to file a cost of service study for the year 2003 no later than December 21, 2001, which will trigger a cost of service review in 2002.

SDG&E and UCAN believe that a cost of service review in 2002 precludes the necessity for a mid-term review. We agree. However, we wish to proceed with developing thoughtful monitoring and evaluation criteria. D.97-07-054 called for a comprehensive evaluation of SoCalGas' PBR mechanism because of the merger application, among other factors. The merger of Enova Corporation and Pacific Enterprises is complete, but we have not yet fully explored the ramifications of combining these two utilities. In addition, the rate freeze for electric service should be nearing an end by the end of 2001 and competition in generation may become more prevalent. We will assess these issues in the comprehensive review of SDG&E's PBR mechanism so that we might better understand the effect of incentives in the changing regulatory environment. In addition, D.96-11-021 requires that the utilities develop performance indicators related to maintenance, repair, and replacement of major electric distribution facilities. In the Performance Indicator Settlement agreement, parties have agreed that SDG&E will gather data for the purposes of developing an electric system maintenance performance indicator. The comprehensive review provides an appropriate forum for SDG&E to present the data collected and to begin the process of discussing appropriate performance indicators related to maintenance, repair, and replacement.

SDG&E and UCAN agree that the PBR mechanism performance over the 1999-2001 time frame should be timely reviewed so that this analysis can be factored into the 2002 cost of service proceeding. We will adopt this

- 62 -

recommendation, but will accelerate the process. In order to adhere to the requirements imposed on the Commission by Senate Bill 960, SDG&E shall file an application to develop evaluation criteria for the formal comprehensive review by June 30,2000. The evaluation process shall begin in mid-2000 with workshops facilitated by the Energy Division. The goals of this workshop are to develop appropriate evaluative criteria that can be expressed in measurable terms for the comprehensive review. This workshop should result in a workshop report to be filed with the Commission by year-end 2000. This approach will allow the Commission time to assess and adopt the recommended criteria for evaluating SDG&E's PBR mechanism.

We prefer that the Energy Division conduct the comprehensive review of the PBR mechanism. If a consultant is hired to conduct an independent evaluation, the Energy Division must be in charge of the RFP and the selection process, and it must administer the contract. We often order the utilities to pay for such reviews (see, e.g., D.96-09-032) with these costs later recovered from ratepayers. It is reasonable that the cost of an independent consultant be capped at \$400,000 and shared equally between the ratepayers and shareholders, as SDG&E and UCAN suggest. SDG&E will be able to submit its own evaluative report at the same time other parties or the independent consultant submit their reports.

We agree with the goals and objectives articulated by SDG&E and UCAN, and will look to the workshops to further define these goals. Monitoring and evaluative criteria must be developed so that each goal and objective can be measured. Only then will we have a true picture of the effectiveness of incentive regulation. Therefore, evaluation of the distribution PBR mechanism should be based on considering whether the adopted mechanism achieves the following goals:

- 63 -

- Improve SDG&E's efficiency and performance;
- Provide adequate incentives and remove disincentives to reduce costs and operate efficiently;
- Demonstrate simplified and streamlined regulatory oversight for the Commission and SDG&E;
- Provide a stable and predictable regulatory environment;
- Provide a reasonable opportunity for the utility to earn a fair rate of return;
- Allow management to focus primarily on costs and markets rather than on regulatory proceedings;
- Align interests of shareholders and customers;
- Maintain and improve quality of service; and
- Achieve other regulatory goals.

In order to evaluate whether these goals have been achieved, these parties recommend that the following questions be asked and examined. We ask the Energy Division to explore these questions in workshops and to work with parties to develop measurable forms to answer these questions:

Is SDG&E reducing costs and operating efficiently?

Are risks and rewards fairly balanced for SDG&E?

Are the interests of shareholders and customers aligned?

Is quality of service and employee safety maintained or improved by specific performance indicators?

Are competitive services included in the PBR? What are the links between cost-of-service, competitive services, and monopoly services?

Is the PBR effective given the rate freeze and its later termination?

How should we evaluate the structure of the PBR mechanism and its applicability as the market structure changes?

Does the PBR mechanism remain appropriate for the monopoly utility given that competitive markets exist to provide the same services that are targeted?

Does the PBR mechanism result in utility actions that are inconsistent with the PBR goals? How can such unintended consequences be addressed?

What reporting requirements would improve future evaluation efforts?

Are there other goals that should be considered in assessing PBR performance?

No later than December 21, 2001, SDG&E shall file an application with its cost of service study for 2003. This application will trigger the formal comprehensive review of the distribution PBR mechanism. SDG&E should consider the goals and evaluative criteria established at Energy Division workshops in filing this application, as well as the criteria delineated in D.97-07-054. In this way we can ensure that SDG&E's distribution PBR mechanism is meeting our intended goals and furthering our regulatory policy.

Comments on Alternate Decision

Comments on the Alternate Decision were filed by SDG&B, UCAN, NRDC, and ORA. Based on SDG&E's comments, we have adjusted the ramp up of the stretch factor to apply over three years instead of four because the update rule only applies in years 2000, 2001, and 2002. We have also revised the termination date of the GFCA and incorporated other minor clarifications and corrections throughout the order.

Findings of Fact

1. We have long considered incentive-based ratemaking superior to command-and-control regulation and have established several goals to be addressed by incentive regulation for energy utilities.

2. Performance-based regulation can provide stronger incentives for efficient utility operations and investment, lower rates, and result in more reasonable, competitive prices for California's consumers.

3. Performance-based regulation can simplify regulation and reduce administrative burdens in the long term, without sacrificing service, safety, and reliability.

4. Incentive regulation can prepare utilities to operate effectively in the increasingly competitive energy utility industry.

5. Incentive regulation should provide a reasonable balancing of risks and rewards, with an equitable sharing of the benefits that reform is intended to achieve.

6. The adopted regulatory program should maintain or improve quality of service, reliability, safety, and customer satisfaction despite expected cost reductions, and should avoid or minimize unintended consequences in interplay among various regulatory programs.

7. SDG&E has been operating under a base rate PBR mechanism since 1994.

8. As approved in D.98-03-073, SoCalGas and SDG&E are now operating entities within the holding company of Sempra Energy, Inc.

9. Once a starting point is selected, PBR mechanisms adjust revenue requirements or rates annually to account for inflation and productivity.

10. Adopting an effective PBR mechanism requires a balance between providing appropriate incentives to utilities with adhering to our stated goals of providing an equitable sharing of the benefits.

11. Performance indicators are designed to ensure that the utility's service quality, customer service, reliability, and safety do not deteriorate under PBR regulation.

12. Under its base rate PBR mechanism, SDG&E earned approximately \$136 million in after-tax dollars from its earnings sharing mechanism during the period 1994 through 1997.

13. Ratepayers' share of earnings is expected to total approximately \$11.2 million during the period 1994 through 1997.

14. SDG&E, ORA, UCAN, FEA, CCUE, the City of San Diego, Farm Bureau, and NRDC filed a joint motion seeking Commission approval of a settlement resolving performance indicators addressing safety, reliability, customer satisfaction, and call center responsiveness, as well as certain customer service guarantees cost of service issues in this proceeding.

15. There is no known opposition to approving the settlement, and no need to hold a hearing on these issues.

16. The settlement satisfies the Commission criteria for an all-party settlement, as set forth in our Rules of Practice and Procedure and D.92-12-019.

17. No party disputes SDG&E's proposed escalation measure, which is based on historical and forecasted industry-specific data, published quarterly. Separate escalation factors are used for electric and gas. Each index is designed to measure changes in price levels of labor, nonlabor and capital inputs purchased by California utilities.

18. Cost of capital will continue to be addressed in cost of capital proceedings and through the MICAM mechanism.

19. Adopting a PBR mechanism modeled after that adopted for SoCalGas in D.97-07-054 and Edison in D.96-09-092 allows both the shareholders and the customers to benefit.

- 67 -

20. The revenue requirement used as the starting point for SDG&E's PBR mechanism is \$563.4 million for electric distribution and \$201.5 million for gas base rate revenues, as approved in D.98-12-038.

21. The term of the adopted PBR should be 1999 through 2002, with provisions for a comprehensive review.

22. SDG&E must file a 2003 cost of service study no later than December 21, 2001.

23. UCAN's proposal to implement separate PBR mechanisms for electric wires, electric metering and billing, gas pipes, and gas metering and billing is premature.

24. NRDC's proposal to establish a performance indicator for distributed generation is premature.

25. Under a rate indexing approach, SDG&E would have a direct interest in increasing electricity usage and gas throughput since its base rate revenues would increase with increases in usage.

26. The revenue-per-customer approach would increase revenue requirements as the number of customers increases but does not allow additional revenue recovery due to sales increases.

27. Adopting the rate indexing formula is simpler, more relevant to SDG&E's circumstances, and more compatible with an emerging competitive market.

28. It is reasonable to eliminate the GFCA with a rate indexing methodology. GFCA components other than base cost balancing component should continue to be recorded in a new account.

29. It is reasonable to terminate the GFCA when balance next approaches zero.

30. An adjustment to the sharing mechanism can counteract the potential windfall effect of sales increases which are likely to occur without effort on SDG&E's part. Environmental concerns arising from an incentive to increase

sales are mitigated by other state policies, including targeted energy efficiency and renewable energy programs.

31. A Total Factor Productivity (TFP) index measures the ratio of its output quantity index to its input quantity index and compares the growth trend in the unit cost of the industry to the trend in prices of labor, capital services, and other production inputs.

32. SDG&E asserts that no stretch factor is necessary, despite the fact that its proposed productivity factors are less than those adopted for other energy utilities.

33. The premise of incentive regulation is that competitive companies are more efficient and productive.

34. It is important to apply a stretch factor to the productivity factor to ensure that the utility to which it is applied is "stretching" to achieve efficiency gains.

35. Edison's historical productivity factor of 0.9% is close to the productivity factor of 0.92% calculated by Christensen Associates for SDG&E.

36. SDG&E's O&M productivity growth under its current PBR mechanism was a modified 1.5% and SDG&E easily exceeded its authorized rate of return.

37. It is reasonable to ramp up the stretch factor incrementally over the term of the PBR, which recognizes both that productivity improvements will not occur all at once and that SDG&E's escalation factor is lower than the CPI.

38. Certain perverse incentives are inherent in SDG&E's rate calibration proposal, because SDG&E may have a disincentive to continue lower costs, knowing that rates will decrease on a permanent basis, since rate reductions will make it more difficult to achieve a favorable rate of return.

39. SDG&E's proposed deadband is approximately four times that adopted for Edison or SoCalGas; therefore, gains or losses would have to be relatively large before being shared with customers.

ъ

40. Relatively few of SDG&E's earnings have been shared with ratepayers under SDG&E's current PBR mechanism, due to the 100 basis point deadband and the low 25% sharing with ratepayers in the first tier.

41. Under the calibration method, decreases in rates one year would have a negative impact on net operating income the following year, which could lead to a lowered incentive to continue to reduce costs, contrary to a primary goal of PBR regulation.

42. The 20% sharing calibration method and 100 basis point deadband does not comport with our regulatory goals, because there is not an equitable sharing of benefits.

43. SDG&E's proposed 100 basis point deadband is intended to account for gains and losses associated with routine operations, including sales and throughput fluctuations.

44. SDG&E acknowledges that its proposed deadband is wider than than adopted for either Edison or SoCalGas.

45. The progressive sharing mechanism creates a "win-win" for both shareholders and ratepayers, because SDG&E has unlimited upside potential to retain earnings above 300 basis points above the benchmark.

46. A progressive sharing mechanism protects ratepayers because it corrects for the potential of adopting a productivity factor that turns out to be too low and allows equitable sharing of benefits of SDG&E's cost reduction efforts.

47. A progressive sharing mechanism provides the proper incentives by allowing shareholders to retain progressively greater amounts of its earnings as higher rates of return are achieved.

48. The cost of service settlement identified \$1.43 million in PBOP overcollections to be refunded for the years 1993-1997.

- 70 -

49. The GFCA should be eliminated to eliminate balancing account treatment for sales volatility.

50. Adopting a 150-basis point voluntary offramp and a 300-basis point mandatory offramp for earnings below the authorized rate of return ensures that there is a mechanism to protect ratepayers and shareholders from significant deviations in earnings.

51. The adopted PBR mechanism provides increasing incentives to SDG&E, because SDG&E retains 100% of earnings for increments above 300 basis points above the benchmark.

52. Monitoring and evaluation are particularly important in determining whether a PBR mechanism is effective, i.e., is providing the desired incentives and results.

53. Monitoring and evaluative criteria must be developed so that each goal and objective can be measured.

54. The comprehensive review provides an appropriate forum for SDG&E to present the data collected regarding maintenance, repair, and replacement of major electric distribution facilities.

55. The Energy Division should conduct the comprehensive review of the PBR mechanism.

Conclusions of Law

1. In R.94-04-031 and I.94-04-032, we stated our intention to replace cost-of-service regulation with performance-based regulation and directed the utilities to file applications requesting distribution PBR mechanisms.

2. The performance indicator settlement is an "uncontested settlement" as defined in Rule 51(f).

3. The performance indicator settlement is reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with law, and in the public interest, and should be approved.

- 71 -

4. Adopting SDG&E's proposed distribution PBR mechanism will not serve the public interest nor achieve our broadly stated goals related to PBR regulation.

5. It is reasonable and prudent to base SDG&E's distribution PBR mechanism on the PBR adopted for SoCalGas in D.97-07-054 and the PBR adopted for Edison in D.96-09-092.

6. It is reasonable to adopt SDG&E's proposed escalation methodology, which no party disputed.

7. It is reasonable to review the issue of distinguishing between monopoly and competitive services, and possible cross-subsidies, during the comprehensive review and to develop monitoring and evaluation criteria to track such possibilities.

8. Performance indicators related to distributed generation should be established after we develop a particular approach for distributed generation in R.98-12-013.

9. Adopting a rate index approach may lead to a windfall for SDG&E due to projected sales increase unrelated to management efforts, and there should be an adjustment to the sharing mechanism to account for this.

10. It is reasonable to adopt the base historical productivity figures proposed by SDG&E as a starting point in determining productivity factors.

11. Adopting a productivity factor that includes a stretch factor of 0.4% ramping up to 0.7% is appropriate, reasonably consistent with the productivity factors adopted for SoCalGas and Edison, and provides incentive to SDG&E to stretch beyond average productivity gains.

12. It is reasonable to eliminate the base cost balancing component of the GFCA when the balance next approaches zero. The SDG&E proposal for a new account to record costs and revenues associated with the carrying costs of storage inventory, the recorded transportation charges billed to SDG&E by SoCalGas,

- 72 -

and amounts collected for the recovery of franchise fees and uncollectibles was unopposed, is reasonable, and should be adopted.

13. SDG&E should file an advice letter the month before it forecasts the GFCA balance will next approach zero, but no later than November 1, 1999.

14. PU Code § 728 imposes a duty upon us to ensure that utility rates are maintained at a level that is just and reasonable; therefore, under incentive regulation, profits and thus rates must be maintained at reasonable levels.

15. Consistent with our regulatory goals, adopting an aggressive productivity factor and a progressive sharing mechanism ensures that ratepayers will be at least as well off under the PBR as under traditional ratemaking.

16. Z-factor treatment should be applied only to those costs successfully meeting the nine criteria previously adopted in D.96-09-092 and D.97-07-054:

a) The event causing the cost must be exogenous to the utility.

b) The event must occur after implementation of the PBR.

c) The utility cannot control the cost.

d) The costs are not a normal cost of doing business.

e) The event affects the utility disproportionately.

f) The PBR update rule must not implicitly include the cost.

g) The cost must have a major impact on the utility.

h) The cost impact must be measurable.

i) The utility must incur the cost reasonably.

17. It is reasonable to adopt the exclusions recommended by the cost of service settlement approved in D.98-12-038.

18. No Z-factor treatment was adopted for PBOPs in SoCalGas' PBR mechanism and PBOP recovery does not conform to the Z-factor criteria adopted in this decision.

19. It is reasonable to adopt the reporting requirements proposed by SDG&E and UCAN.

20. The term of the PBR mechanism should be 1999 through 2002, consistent with the cost of service settlement adopted in D.98-12-038.

21. Because of the changing regulatory environment, it is reasonable to develop rigorous evaluative criteria, so that we will better understand the effect of incentives.

22. Should Energy Division determine that it is necessary to hire an independent consultant, it is reasonable that the cost be capped at \$400,000 and that ratepayers and shareholder share the cost equally.

23. This order should be effective today, so that SDG&E's distribution PBR mechanism can be implemented on a timely basis.

24. This proceeding should be closed.

ORDER.

IT IS ORDERED that:

1. The Joint Motion for Adoption of Settlement Agreement on PBR Performance Indicators in the San Diego Gas & Electric Company (SDG&E) Application (A.) 98-01-014 is granted.

2. The Settlement Agreement is attached to this decision as Appendix B and is adopted as reasonable in light of the whole record, consistent with the law, and in the public interest.

3. SDG&E shall use a rate indexing methodology for its PBR. The "starting point" for electric distribution and gas rates will be the 1999 authorized rates as determined in the Cost of Service portion of this proceeding in D.98-12-038. In subsequent years, through 2002, electric distribution and gas rates will be determined by multiplying the "update rule" formula, i.e. 1 + inflation -

- 74 -

productivity, by the previous year's rates. This formula will be applied to each electric distribution and gas transportation rate and rate component, as described in Exhibit 82, pg. PBR13A-2. Adjustments, due to such factors as revenue sharing, or PBR performance rewards or penalties, will be made as one-time adjustments. SDG&E shall file an advice letter by October 1 of each year to implement the rate adjustment. SDG&E shall file an advice letter to terminate the GFCA when the balance next approaches zero. The advice letter should be filed the month before SDG&E forecasts a zero balance, but no later than November 1, 1999.

4. SDG&E shall implement a distribution performance-based ratemaking (PBR) mechanism using the revenue requirements adopted in Decision (D.) 98-12-038 as a starting point. The PBR shall use a rate indexing approach, the adopted escalation methodology (Attachment 1), and a progressive earnings sharing mechanism as described in this decision. SDG&E shall apply a stretch factor that increases over the term of the PBR mechanism, resulting in an X factor on the electric side of 1.32% in 2000, 1.47% in 2001, and 1.62% in 2002. On the gas side, SDG&E shall apply an X factor of 1.08% in 2000, 1.23% in 2001, and 1.38% in 2002.

5. SDG&E shall construct the progressive sharing mechanism with a deadband of 25 basis points above the benchmark rate of return. Shareholders shall receive 100% of earnings up to the level of 25 basis points above the benchmark rate of return and an increasing percentage in steps from 25 to 300 basis points, above which level shareholders will also receive 100% of the earnings.

6. SDG&E shall construct the progressive sharing mechanism with eight bands between 25 basis points above the benchmark rate of return and 300 basis points above the benchmark rate of return. The first band shall be from 25 to 75

- 75 -

basis points above the benchmark. Shareholders shall receive 25% of the marginal revenues in this band and ratepayers shall receive 75% of the marginal revenues. Each of the next five successive band shall increase the incremental share allocated to shareholders by 10% and decrease the incremental share allocated to ratepayers by 10%. The sixth band shall fall between 175 and 200 basis points above the benchmark, with shareholders receiving 75% and ratepayers 25%. The seventh band shall be between 200 and 250 basis points above the benchmark, with shareholders receiving 85% and ratepayers 15%. The eighth band shall be between 250 and 300 basis points above the benchmark, with shareholders receiving 85% and ratepayers 15%.

7. When a potential Z-factor event occurs, SDG&E shall promptly advise us of its occurrence by advice letter and shall establish a memorandum account for the event. The notification shall provide all relevant information, including a description, amount involved, timing, and how the event conforms to the nine adopted criteria. All such events shall be reviewed in the comprehensive review. For each event, SDG&E's shareholders shall absorb the first \$5 million per event of otherwise compensable Z-factor adjustments. This deductible shall be separately applied to each Z-factor event. The deductible shall be a one-time deductible per Z-factor event, even if the costs associated with the event are incurred in more than one year.

8. SDG&E or ORA may file a motion for voluntary suspension if SDG&E reports net operating income that is at least 150 basis points below its authorized rate of return. If SDG&E reports net operating income indicating a return of 300 or more basis points below its authorized rate of return, the PBR mechanism shall be automatically suspended and SDG&E shall file an application which will lead to a formal review of the mechanism.

9. For the duration of the PBR period, the following items, which are included in 1999 authorized revenues, shall be excluded from the <u>indexing</u> mechanism before SDG&E calculates its annual escalation of revenue requirements:

- a. Tree-trimming authorized revenues, as described in the settlement adopted in D.98-12-038.
- b. Costs associated with the Natural Gas Vehicle (NGV) program, which shall be excluded for the year 2000 update rule only. Beginning in 2001, NGV costs shall be included in the PBR indexing mechanism.
- c. Costs associated with gas research, development and demonstration (RD&D), as these are subject to a one-way balancing accounts.
- d. Fixed A&G Costs that SDG&E may be able to recover through contracts under which it will provide O&M services to its divested fossil fuel plants, as adopted in D.98-12-038. If SDG&E is able to recover any of these costs through a maintenance contract, it will make a corresponding downward adjustment to the authorized revenue requirement.
- e. Year 2000 computer expenses at \$1.2 million per year.
- f. Rewards for Demand Side Management (DSM) programs.
- 10. For the duration of the PBR period, the following items shall be excluded

from recorded PBR base rate revenues and/or expenses before SDG&E calculates

its actual earned rate of return for revenue sharing purposes:

- a. Tree-trimming revenues and incurred expenses, as described in the settlement adopted in D.98-12-038.
- b. Costs attributable to senior executive retirement plans and executive bonuses.
- c. Costs associated with the NGV program for 1999 and 2000. Beginning in 2001, these costs should be included as PBR expense for revenue sharing purposes.
- d. Costs associated with gas RD&D, as this is subject to a one-way balancing account.

- e. Any under run of the fixed A&G costs associated with the maintenance contract for divested power plants pursuant to the adopted settlement in D.98-12-038.
- f. Hazardous waste costs, which are recovered through the Hazardous Waste Collaborative.
- g. Future costs related to the Catastrophic Event Memorandum Account and the Gas Hazardous Substance Cost Recovery Account, which are recovered through those respective balancing accounts.
- h. DSM and PBR rewards.

11. By February 15 of each year, SDG&E shall file an annual electric distribution report that addresses the performance indicators and earnings sharing results for the previous calendar year. This report shall be filed by advice letter with the Energy Division. Within 45 days after the end of each calendar quarter, SDG&E shall submit quarterly reports to the Energy Division and interested parties that address the 12-month-to-date sharing and year-to-date performance indicator results.

12. SDG&E shall file an application to develop evaluation criteria for the comprehensive review by June 30, 2000. The evaluation process shall begin in mid-1999 with workshops facilitated by the Energy Division. The Energy Division shall file and serve a workshop report by year-end 2000.

13. If a consultant is hired to conduct an independent evaluation, the Energy Division shall develop and issue the Request for Proposal (RFP), administer the selection process, and administer the contract. The cost of an independent consultant shall be shared equally between the ratepayers and shareholders. SDG&E and interested parties may submit evaluative reports at the same time other parties or the independent consultant submit their reports.

14. The Energy Division shall work with other parties to develop measurable evaluation criteria based on the following goals outlined in this decision:

- Improve SDG&E's efficiency and performance;
- Provide adequate incentives and remove disincentives to reduce costs and operate efficiently;
- Demonstrate simplified and streamlined regulatory oversight for the Commission and SDG&E;
- Provide a stable and predictable regulatory environment;
- Provide a reasonable opportunity for the utility to earn a fair rate of return;
- Allow management to focus primarily on costs and markets rather than on regulatory proceedings;
- Align interests of shareholders and customers;
- Maintain and improve quality of service; and
- Achieve other regulatory goals.

15. SDG&E is authorized to implement the distribution performance-based ratemaking mechanism described in this decision. SDG&E shall file a compliance advice letter implementing all required tariff changes necessitated by this decision within 10 days of the effective date of this decision. SDG&E shall include in its advice letter which implements this decision the establishment of a new account to record costs and revenues for the carrying cost of storage inventory, the recorded transportation charges billed to SDG&E by SoCalGas, and amounts collected for the recovery of franchise fees and uncollectibles.

16. SDG&E shall file an advice letter after the new sales forecast is adopted in A.98-01-031 to update the gas sales forecast in the PBR.

17. SDG&E shall file an application with a comprehensive cost of service study for the year 2003 no later than December 21, 2001, which will trigger a cost of service review in 2002.

18. Application 98-01-014 is closed.

This order is effective today.

Dated May 13, 1999, at San Francisco, California.

RICHARD A. BILAS President JOSIAH L. NEEPER Commissioner .

I will file a dissent.

/s/ HENRY M. DUQUE Commissioner

•

· ·

APPENDIX A

·

.

- *-*

. .

IDIX A

.

*************** SERVICE LIST *************

Last updated on 13-NOV-1998 by: LIL A9801014 LIST

****************** APPEARANCES ******************

Marc D. Joseph Attorney At Law ADAMS BROADWELL & JOSEPH 651 GATEWAY BLVD., SUITE 900 SOUTH SAN FRANCISCO CA 94080 (650) 589-1660 mdjoseph@adamsbroadwell.com For: Coalition of California Utility Employees

Reed V. Schmidt Vice President BARTLE WELLS ASSOCIATES 1636 BUSH STREET SAN FRANCISCO CA 94109 (415) 775-3113 bwasslip.net F^t: California City-County Streetlight sciation

Charles Wolfinger Attorney At Law C.A.U.S.E. 4652 CASS STREET SAN DIEGO CA 92109 (619) 272-8115 cwolfinger@usa.net For: CAUSE

Ronald Liebert Attorney At Law CALIFORNIA FARM BUREAU FEDERATION 2300 RIVER PLAZA DRIVE SACRAMENTO CA 95833 (916) 561-5657 rliebert@cfbf.com For: California Farm Bureau Federation Deborah Berger Deputy City Attorney CITY OF SAN DIEGO 1200 THIRD AVENUE, SUITE 1200 SAN DIEGO CA 92101 (619) 533-5825 dbbscityatty.sannet.gov For: City of San Diego

Norman Furuta Attorney At Law FEDERAL EXECUTIVE AGENCIES 900 COMMODORE DRIVE (CODE 09C) SAN BRUNO CA 94066-5006 (650) 244-2100 njfuruta@efavest.navfac.navy.mil For: Federal Executive Agencies

James D. Squeri Attorney At Law GOODIN MACBRIDE SQUERI SCHLOTZ & RITCHIE 505 SANSOME STREET, STE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 392-7900 jsqueri@gmssr.com For: NutraSweet Kelco Company, a Unit of Monsa Company

Margaret A. Rostker Attorney At Law GOODIN MACBRIDE SQUERI SCHLOTZ & RITCHIE 505 SANSOME STREET, SUITE 900 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94111 (415) 392-7900 mrostker@gmssr.com For: Enron

Karen Johanson PO BOX 502007 SAN DIEGO CA 92150 (619) 674-4452 kbjoha@aol.com For: California Alliance for Utility Safety & Education (CAUSE)

************* SERVICE LIST ************

.ry H. Epstein LAW OFFICES OF BARRY H. EPSTEIN SIEWART TOWER, 16TH FLOOR ONE MARKET PLAZA SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 777-4848 bepsteinShooked.net For: Natural Desources Defense Council

Richard H. Counihan MRW & ASSOCIATES 1999 HARRISON SIREET, SUITE 1440 OAKLAND CA 94612 (510) 834-1999 rhc@mrwassoc.com For: CITY OF SAN DIEGO

Steve Nelson Attorney At Law SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 101 ASH STREET SAN DIEGO CA 92101 '(19) 699-5136 lson@sdge.com For: San Diego Gas & Electric Company

Keith W. Melville Attorney At Law SEMPRA ENERGY 101 ASH STREET SAN DIEGO CA 92112-4150 (619) 699-5039 kmelville@sempra.com

Bruce A. Reed Attorney At Law SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA EDISON COMPANY 2244 WAINUT GROVE AVENUE ROSEMEAD CA 91770 (626) 302-4183 reedba@sce.com For: Southern California Edison Company

Glen Sullivan Attorney At Law SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY I WEST 5TH STREET, STE. 5200 .3 ANGELES CA 90071 For: Southern California Gas Company Michael Shames UTILITY CONSUMERS' ACTION NETWORK 1717 KETTNER BLVD., SUITE 105 SAN DIEGO CA 92101-2532 (619) 696-6966 mshames@ucan.org For: Utility Consumers Action Network (UCAN)

£

Jason J. Zeller Legal Division RM. 5137 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-4673 jjz@cpuc.ca.gov For: Office of Ratepayer Advocates

.

Sidney Mannheim Jubien Office Of Chief Counsel CALIFORNIA ENERGY COMMISSION 1516 9TH STREET, MS-14 SACRAMENTO CA 95814-5512 (916) 654-3967

ENERGY DIVISION ROOM 4002 CPUC

David K. Fukutome Office of Ratepayer Advocates RM. 4209 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-1136 dkf@cpuc.ca.gov For: Office of Ratepayer Advocates

Angela K. Minkin Administrative Law Judge Division RM. 5021 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-1573 ang@cpuc.ca.gov

************* SERVICE LIST *************

.hard A. Myers Energy Division AREA 4-A 505 VAN NESS AVE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94102 (415) 703-1228 ram@cpuc.ca.gov For: Energy Division - CPUC

Barbara Ortega Executive Division RM. 5109 107 S. BRÓADWAY, ROOM 5109 LÓS ANGELES CA 90012 (213) 897-4158 bho@cpuc.ca.gov

****************** INFORMATION ONLY **************

Catherine E. Yap BARKOVICH & YAP, INC. PO BOX 11031 ^*KLAND CA 94611 0} 450-1270 ceyap@earthlink.net

Maurice Brubaker BRUBAKER & ASSOCIATES 1215 FERN RIDGE PARKWAY, SUITE 208 ST. LOUIS MO 63141 (314) 275-7007 bqicmvp.net For: Brubaker & Associates

Eric Woychik CALIFORNIA COMPETITION NETWORK 9901 CALODEN LANE OAKLAND CA 94605 (510) 635-2359 estrategy@compuserve.com For: CCN

Jason Mihos CALIFORNIA ENERGY MARKETS 9 ROSCOE SAN FRANCISCO CA 94110 5) 824-3222 Jonmanewsdata.com For: California Energy Markets David Marcus COALITION OF CALIF UTILITY EMPLOYEES PO BOX 1287 BERKELEY CA 94701-1287 (510) 528-0728 dmarcus@slip.net For: Coalition of California Utility Employees

Sam Dé Frawi DEPARIMENT ÓF THE NAVY BUILDING 212, FÓURTH FLÓOR 901 M STREET, S.E. WASHINGTON DC 20374-5018 (202) 685-0130 sdefrawi@efaches.navfac.navy.m For: Department of the Navy

Carolyn A. Baker Attorney At Law EDSON + MODISETTE 925 L STREET, SUITE 1490 SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 552-7070 cbakerens.net

Lynn M. Haug Attorney At Law ELLISON & SCHNEIDER 2015 H STREET SACRAMENTO CA 95814 (916) 447-2166 abb3eslawfirm.com For: Independent Energy Producers Association

Jeanne M. Sole Attorney At Law GRUENEICH RESOURCE ADVOCATES 582 MARKET STREET, SUITE 407 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94104 (415) 834-2300 jsole@hooked.net For: National Association of Energy Service Companies, CSU and UofC

Gayatri Schilberg JBS ENERGY 311 D STREET WEST SACRAMENTO CA 95605 ' (916) 372-0534 gayatri@jbsenergy.com For: JBS Energy

. ert Weisenmiller Phd MRW & ASSOCIATES, INC. 1999 HARRISON STREET, STE 1440 OAKLAND CA 94612-3517 (510) 834-1999 rbw@mrwassoc.com For: MRW & Associates

Peter Miller NATURAL RESOURCE DEFENSE COUNCIL 71 STEVENSON STREET, SUITE 1825 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94105 (415) 777-0220 pmiller@nrdc.org For: Natural Resource Defense Council (NRDC)

Andrew L. Niven PACIFIC GAS AND BLECTRIC COMPANY PO BOX 7442 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94120-7442 (415) 973-6640 2'72@pge.com : Pacific Gas and Electric Company

Carolyn Kehrein QST ENERGY TRADING, INC. 1505 DUNLAP COURT DIXON CA 95620-4208 (707) 678-9506 cmkehrein@ems-ca.com For: QST Energy Trading, Inc.

C. Richard Swanson SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY REGULATORY AFFAIRS PO BOX 1831 SAN DIEGO CA 92112-4150 (619) 696-4069 rswanson3sdge.com For: San Diego Gas and Electric Company

Lisa Hubbard SAN DIEGO GAS & ELECTRIC COMPANY 601 VAN NESS AVENUE, SUITE 2047 FRANCISCO CA 94102-6312 ,...5) 346-1385 ljhubbar@sdge.com For: San Diego Gas and Electric Company Denise Canning SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA GAS COMPANY 555 WEST FIFTH STREET - ML 25A1 LOS ANGELES CA 90013-1011 (213) 244-2517 dcanning@pacent.com For: Southern California Gas Company

Robert Finkelstein Attorney At Law THE UTILITY REFORM NETWORK 711 VAN NESS AVENUE, SUITE 350 SAN FRANCISCO CA 94122 (415) 929-8876 bfinkelstein@turn.org For: The Utility Reform Network (TURN)

\$

-

APPENDIX B

. 1	BEFORE THE PUBLIC I	JTILITIES COMMISSION
2		OF CALIFORNIA
3		
.4	Application of San Diego Gas & Electric) Company (SDG&E) for Authority to)	
5	Implement a Distribution Performance-Based)	A.98-01-014
6	Ratemaking Mechanism (U-902-M))	
7		
8		
9		AGREEMENT ANCE INDICATORS
10	UNTERTERU URU	
11		
12		
13	Jasón Zeller Staff Counsel	Keith Melville Steven Nelson
14	Office of Ratepayer Advocates	Attorneys for San Diego Gas & Electric
15	California Public Utilities Commission	P.O. Box 1831
	505 Van Ness Avenue San Francisco, CA 94102	San Diego, CA 92112 (619) 699-5039
16	(415) 703-4673	(619) 699-5136
17		
· 18		
19	Michael Shames	Norman J. Furuta
20	Executive Director	Associate Counsel
21	Utility Consumers' Action Network 1717 Kettner Blvd. #105	Department of the Navy Federal Executive Agencies
22	San Diego, CA	900 Commodore Drive
	(619) 696-6966	San Bruno, CA 94066-5006 (650) 244-2100
23		(050) 244-2100
24	· · · · ·	
25	Marc Joseph Coalition of California Utility Employees	Casèy Gwinn City Attorney
26	Adams, Broadwell & Joseph	Deborah Berger
27	651 Gateway Blvd, Ste. 900 South San Francisco, CA 94080	Deputy City Attorney 1200 Third Avenue Ste. 1200
28	(016) 561 5657	San Diego, CA 92101
20		(619) 533-5825

-

;

۰.

•			•
	1 2 3 4 5	Ronald Liebert Associate Counsel California Farm Bureau Federation 2300 River Plaza Drive Sacramento, CA 95833 (650) 589-1660	Barry H. Epstein Law Offices of Barry H. Epstein for Natural Resources Defense Council One Market Plaza, Steuart Tower Sixteenth Floor San Francisco, CA 94105 (415) 777-4848
	6		
	7	September 14, 1998	· .
	8		
• '	9		
• .	10		
	11		
	12		
· ·	13		
-	14		
	15		
	16		
	17		
	18		
	19		
	20 21	·	
	21		
	23		
	24		
	25	•	•
	26		
	27		
	28		

÷.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

2		Page
3	I. PARTIE	28
4	II. RECIT	ALS1
5	А.	SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT
6	В.	SDG&E's PRESENTATION
7	C.	ORA'S PRESENTATION
8	D.	UCAN'S PRESENTATION
9	E.	FEA'S PRESENTATION
10	F.	CCUE'S PRESENTATION
11	G . '	NRDC'S PRESENTATION
12	Н.	SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATION PROCESS
13	III. AGRE	EMENT
14	А.	SAFETY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
15	B.	RELIABILITY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
16	C.	CUSTOMER SATISFACTION PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
17	D.	CALL CENTER RESPONSIVENESS PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
18	E.	SERVICE GUARANTEES
19	F.	REPORTING9
20	G.	COMPETITION ENHANCEMENT PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
21	Н.	ENVIRONMENTAL CITIZENSHIP PERFORMANCE INDICATORS10
22	I.	ELECTRIC SYSTEM MAINTENANCE PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 10
23 24	IV. ADDIT	IONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
25	А.	TERM OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
26	B.	OBLIGATION TO PROMOTE APPROVAL
27	C.	PUBLIC INTEREST
28	D.	NON-PRECEDENTIAL EFFECT

1	E.	INDIVISIBILITY
2	F.	LIABILITY12
3	G.	GOVERNING LAW12
4	Н.	INTERPRETATION13
5	I.	NO WAIVER
6	J.	AMENDMENT/SEVERABILITY13
7	K.	COUNTERPARTS
8	L.	APPENDICES
9	M.	EXECUTION15
10		
11		
12		
13		
14		
15		
16		
17		
. 18		
19		
20	· •	
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		
20		

.

.

•ii-

	BEFORE THE PUBLIC UTIL	ITIES COMMISSION
	OF THE STATE OF C	CALIFORNIA
4 1		
	ication of San Diego Gas & Electric) . pany (SDG&E) for Authority to)	
Imple	ement a Distribution Performance-Based)	A.98-01-014
Raten	naking Mechanism (U-902-M))	
	SETTLEMENT AGE	REEMENT
	ON PBR PERFORMANCI	E INDICATORS
	· •	
	1.	· · · ·
	PARTIES	
	The parties to this Settlement Agreement are th	e Office of Ratenaver Advocates
ሮነብጽ /	A"), Utility Consumers Action Network ("UCAN	
	"), the Coalition of California Utility Employee	
	ation ("Farm Bureau"), the City of San Diego, N	
('NRI	DC") ¹ and San Diego Gas & Electric Company ("SDG&E") (all hereinafter referred to
collect	tively as the "Settling Parties").	
	· II.	
	RECITALS	S
A.	SCOPE OF THE AGREEMENT	、
	On January 16, 1998, SDG&E filed an applicat	ion for authority to establish a Distribution
Perfor	mance-Based Ratemaking ("PBR") mechanism j	
i CHUI	matte-nesea tratemaxing () not) meenginging	presence in the application. This
Environ indicato	C supports the section of this Settlement Agreement address mental Citizenship performance indicators and takes no p ws. This agreement does not address NRDC's proposal fo ited Resources, which was not discussed as part of the sett	osition on SDG&E's other proposed performance it a PBR performance indicator for facilitation of
	•1•	

Settlement Agreement resolves or otherwise disposes of all issues raised in connection with the set of distribution PBR performance indicators proposed by SDG&E.² PBR "design" issues (e.g., rate indexing, productivity, escalation, earnings sharing issues) are not addressed in this Settlement Agreement.

5

6

7

8

ģ

10

11

12

13

1

2

3

4

B. SDG&E's PRESENTATION

SDG&E's proposal for distribution PBR performance indicators is contained in 8 chapters of prepared direct testimony (January 16, 1998) from witnesses Reed, Carrillo, Little, Samaniego, Schneider, Jahn and Pedersen, 2 chapters of supplemental merger impact testimony (April 20, 1998) from witnesses Carrillo and Schneider, and six chapters of rebuttal testimony (July 31, 1998) from witnesses Davis, Carrillo, Little, Samaniego, Schneider and Jahn. This showing is supported by several thousand pages of workpapers which have been provided to the parties to this proceeding and responses to numerous data requests.

14

15

С.

ORA'S PRESENTATION

16 ORA is the staff component of the California Public Utilities Commission ("CPUC") 17 responsible for representing the perspective of utility customers in CPUC proceedings. In that 18 capacity ORA staff members conducted a thorough review of SDG&E's proposed PBR 19 indicators culminating in the service on July 3, 1998 of its 6 chapter report from witnesses 20 Fukutome, Momoh, Cabreza and Ezekwo. Throughout the nearly 6 month review period, ORA 21 experts conducted extensive inquiry concerning SDG&E's testimony and workpapers. In all, ORA propounded to SDG&E numerous questions and requests for information and documentary 22 23 support. These requests probed virtually every element of SDG&E's testimony. The Parties 24 believe ORA's review of SDG&E's application and supporting materials was both thorough and 25 well-documented.

26

27

28

² This agreement to a "set of distribution PBR performance indicators proposed by SDG&E" does not address NRDC's proposal for a PBR performance indicator for facilitation of Distributed Resources.

-2-

1

26

27

28

D.

UCAN'S PRESENTATION

2 UCAN, a San Diego-based ratepayer advocacy group, also conducted detailed analyses of 3 SDG&E's proposed PBR performance indicators. It performed this work in consultation with its 4 expert consultant JBS Energy, Inc., Strategy Integration and Exeter Associates. UCAN's 5 findings were published on July 3, 1998 through its witnesses Marcus, Woychik, Kahn and 6 Schilberg. Like ORA, UCAN conducted extensive discovery. 7 8 E. FEA'S PRESENTATION 9 FEA, representing the Department of Defense and other federal executive agencies which 10 are substantial purchasers of electric services from San Diego Gas & Electric Company, 11 submitted testimony focusing primarily on PBR design and cost of service issues, but also 12 addressed some PBR performance indicator issues. FEA also conducted extensive discovery on 13 numerous issues in this proceeding. 14 15 · F. **CCUE'S PRESENTATION** 16 CCUE, on behalf of utility employees, submitted comprehensive direct testimony on July 17 3 evaluating SDG&E's PBR performance indicator proposals, then, on July 31, submitted 18 rebuttal testimony evaluating other intervenors' testimony (witness David Marcus). CCUE 19 conducted extensive discovery on issues related to PBR performance indicators in this 20 proceeding. 21 22 G. NRDC'S PRESENTATION 23 NRDC, a national environmental advocacy organization, submitted testimony through its 24 witness Peter Miller evaluating SDG&E's proposed Environmental Citizenship performance 25 indicators and made other recommendations as noted above.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

H.

SETTLEMENT NEGOTIATION PROCESS

After the distribution of the July 31 rebuttal testimony, discussions commenced regarding the similarities and differences in positions set forth in SDG&E's, ORA's, UCAN's, FEA's, CCUE's and NRDC's testimony. These informal discussions lead to two technical workshops/settlement discussions held in San Francisco on August 20 and 27th. The first of these workshops was noticed on August 17. In addition, a formal settlement conference on PBR performance indicators was noticed on September 2 and held on September 14. These discussions ultimately produced agreement by the Settling Parties to a set of PBR performance indicators which the Parties have memorialized in this Settlement Agreement for presentation to the Commission as a just and reasonable resolution of the issues presented in SDG&E's January 16, 1998 application related to these indicators.

III.

AGREEMENT

A genuine dispute has existed among the Settling Parties concerning the PBR performance indicators that the Commission should establish for SDG&E. Accordingly, the Settling Parties agree to resolve in the manner set forth below, all issues of which each of them is aware pertaining to the set of PBR performance indicators proposed by SDG&E. The Settling Parties regard this Settlement Agreement as a package, the resolution of which reflects substantial compromise among the parties (See Appendix A to this Settlement Agreement, which represents a comparison of the Settling Parties' litigation positions on the set of PBR performance indicators proposed by SDG&E). The resolved issues are interrelated and no issue or term of the Settlement Agreement should be evaluated in isolation from the remainder of the package. (See Section IV-E, Indivisibility, below).

Each party urges the Commission to approve this Settlement Agreement and the various compromises which produce it as a fair and reasonable resolution of the issues. Each party hereby declares and represents that it has reached this determination, and is executing this Settlement Agreement, after consultation with its own legal counsel.

-4-

The Settling Parties hereby agree as follows:

1

A. SAFETY PERFORMANCE INDICATOR 2 3 The employee safety performance indicator is based on an OSHA frequency standard, measuring SDG&E's regulated OSHA-reportable lost time and non-lost time injuries and 4 5 illnesses against total SDG&E employee working hours as adjusted for personnel changes due to 6 the Enova/Pacific Enterprises merger. The following parameters are recommended for this 7 indicator: 8 ģ. Benchmark: 8.80 OSHA - reportable frequency rate 10 Deadband: +/- 0.20 11 Liveband: +/- 1.20 Unit of change: 0.01 12 Incentive per unit: \$25,000 13 Maximum incentive: +/- \$3 million 14 15 В. RELIABILITY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS 16 17 The System Average Interruption Duration Index (SAIDI), System Average Interruption 18 Frequency Index (SAIFI) and Momentary Average Interruption Frequency Index (MAIFI) 19 reliability benchmarks apply to SDG&E's facilities³ and each exclude planned outages and 20 Major Events (using the CPUC's definition of Major Events from Decision 96-09-045). The 21 following measures are recommended: 22 <u>SAIDI</u> 1. Benchmark: 52 minutes (excluding underground cable failures) for each year 1999, 2000 23 24 and 2001. 25 73 minutes (including underground cable failures) for 2002. 26 Deadband: 0 27 28 ³ That is, any events that are the direct result of failures in the ISO-controlled bulk power market or non-SDO&E

-5-

owned transmission facilities are excluded.

1	Liveband: +/- 15
2	Unit of change: 1
3	Incentive per unit: \$250,000
4	Maximum incentive: +/- \$3.75 million
5	
6	2. <u>SAIFI</u>
7	Benchmark: 0.90 outages per year
8	Deadband: 0
9	Liveband: +/- 0.15
10	Unit of change: 0.01
11	Incentive per unit: \$250,000
12	Maximum incentive: +/- \$3.75 million
13	
14	3. <u>MAIFI</u>
15	Benchmark: 1.28 outages per year
16	Deadband: 0
17	Liveband: +/- 0.30
18	Unit of change: 0.015
19	Incentive per unit: \$50,000
20	Maximum incentive: +/- \$1 million
21	
22	C. CUSTOMER SATISFACTION PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
23	SDG&E's Customer Service Monitoring System (CSMS) indicator measures overall
24	customer satisfaction with recent service transactions provided by the Company. The CSMS
25	measure as proposed by SDG&E is recommended for adoption by the CPUC, with the following
26	parameters, during the term of the Distribution PBR mechanism:
27	CSMS Benchmark: 92.5% very satisfied
28	Deadband: +/- 0.5%

-6-

1	iveband: +/- 2.0%
	Jnit of change: 0.1%
	ncentive per unit: \$75,000
N	faximum incentive: +/- \$1.5 million
D. (CALL CENTER RESPONSIVENESS PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
S	DG&E's proposed Call Center Responsiveness measure, which measures the
Compan	y's responsiveness to customer telephone inquiries, is recommended for adoption by the
CPUC.	
F	Senchmark: 80% of calls answered in 60 seconds, measured on an annual basis.
Г	Deadband: 0
I	iveband: +/- 15.0%
ι	Init of change: 0.1%
1	ncentive per unit: \$10,000
N	Maximum incentive: +/- \$1.5 million
1	The Settling Parties do not recommend a 90/20 standard for emergency calls at this time.
E. S	SERVICE GUARANTEES
S	DG&E agrees to the following guarantees in order to facilitate agreement on an overall
settleme	nt package on PBR performance indicators. One feature of this package is a Customer
Satisfact	ion measure that has upside potential allowing SDG&E to achieve performance rewards,
dependir	ng on its overall performance in this area. In order to provide SDO&E adequate time for
planning	and implementation, SDG&E will begin these service guarantees effective
approxit	nately two months after the issuance of the Commission decision adopting the
settleme	nt. ⁴
	1. <u>Missed Appointments</u> : SDG&E makes appointments for services when
access is	required to the customer's premises and the customer requests to be present. These
4 But no s	ooner than April 1, 1999.

•7-

1	appointments can be all day or they may be made within a four-hour window (a.m. or p.m.) when
2	requested by customers. If SDG&E is not able to meet the appointment commitment, the
- 3	customer's account will be credited with \$50. The credit need not be paid if the customer is
4	notified at least four hours before the end of the appointment period. For turn-on orders
5	(establishment of service) the customer will be credited with the applicable service establishment
6	charge (\$15 or \$30) instead of \$50. This guarantee is not applicable for gas pilot light
7	appointments or if SDG&E documents that the reason the service person missed the appointment
8	was due to natural disaster, labor strike or that he/she was called off to work on an Emergency
· 9	Order as defined below:
10	
-11	• Fire or explosion
12	Broken or blowing gas line
13	High gas pressure
14	Emergency carbon monoxide
15	Hazardous leaks
16	Emergency Orders are excluded as a result of SDG&E's public safety obligations.
17	SDG&E agrees to report the number of appointments missed for this reason (see section "F"
18	below on "Reporting") and to work to minimize such exceptions.
19	2. <u>New Installations</u> : When an individual customer requests a date for a permanent
20	new service establishment, SDG&E will turn on new service on the day promised (prior to
21	midnight) or credit the customer's account with the Service Establishment Charge (\$15 electric,
22	\$30 for both gas and electric). The credit need not be paid if at least 24 hours notice of a date
23	change is given to the customer. Notice given on the answering machine of a number designated
24	by the customer will be sufficient. For the guarantee to be valid, there must be:
25	• Open access to the facility and the meter panel or gas service
26	All required inspections must be completed and approved
27	No threats of harm to employees
28	

-8-

1			 Paid only when the customer is currently without service, which is
2			being installed
3		3.	<u>Complaint Resolution</u> : SDG&E will develop a centralized complaint tracking
4	svste		will provide annual reports to the Commission and the Settling Parties on results
5			A customer complaint is defined in accordance with SDG&E's current in-house rules.
6	F.		PORTING
7	F.	NE I	
			SDG&E will provide to the Commission and the Settling Parties an annual report
ł	ố f qủ	arterly	data for the following:
2		•	Convenience of the timeframe arranged (Question 8 of telephone segment in
"			CSMS)
		•	Time for completion of gas service (Question 6 in gas segment in CSMS)
	;	•	Time waiting for electric service (Question 7 in troublemen segment in CSMS)
1		٠	Average response time to electric emergencies
1		•	Average response time to gas emergencies
5	-	•	Level of busies in call center
5		٠	Number of abandoned calls in call center
1		•	Shortest number of minutes (for a new caller) between the call connection to the
\$			first menu and the menu choice for CSR
	•	٠	Number of appointments missed for emergencies
ł		•	The number of four-hour window appointments scheduled and the number of non-
			window appointments scheduled.
2		Beca	use tracking systems for most of these measures are not currently in place, SDG&E
	will t	egin th	e tracking two months after the Commission issues a decision adopting the
4			The first report will be submitted in early 2000 covering through 12/31/99.
5	G.	CON	IPETITION ENHANCEMENT PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
,		SDG	&E agrees to withdraw its proposed Competition Enhancement performance
	indica	ators.	•

ſ

-9-

	1	
1	Н.	ENVIRONMENTAL CITIZENSHIP PERFORMANCE INDICATORS
2		SDG&E agrees to withdraw its proposed Environmental Citizenship performance
3	indic	ators.
4		
5	I.	ELECTRIC SYSTEM MAINTENANCE PERFORMANCE INDICATOR
6		No Party opposed SDG&E's proposal to gather data for purposes of developing an
7	Elect	ric System Maintenance performance indicator.
8		IV.
9		
10	į .	ADDITIONAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS
11	A,	TERM OF SETTLEMENT AGREEMENT
12		The Settling Parties agree that the PBR performance indicators presented in this
13	Settle	ment Agreement shall be in effect for during January 1, 1999 through December 31, 2002,
14	subje	ct to adjustments dictated by any CPUC order.
15		
16	В.	OBLIGATION TO PROMOTE APPROVAL
17		The Settling Parties agree to use their best efforts to propose, support and advocate
18	adopt	ion of this Settlement Agreement by the Commission. The Settling Parties agree to
19	· perfor	m diligently, and in good faith, all actions required or implied hereunder, including, but not
20	neces	sarily limited to, the execution of any other documents required to effectuate the terms of
21	this S	ettlement Agreement, and the preparation of exhibits for, and presentation of witnesses at,
22	any re	quired hearings to obtain the approval and adoption of this Settlement Agreement by the
23	Comn	nission. No Party to this Settlement Agreement will contest any aspect of this Settlement
24	Agree	ment in any proceeding or in any other forum, by contact or communication, whether
25	writte	n or oral (including ex parte communications whether or not reportable under the
26	Comn	nission's Rule of Practice and Procedure) or in any other manner before this Commission.
27		The Settling Parties further agree that they will use reasonable efforts to provide notice to
28	the oil	her Parties that they intend to enter into ex parte discussions with any Commission

i

-

-10-

decision-maker regarding the recommendations contained in this Settlement Agreement, whether reportable under the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, or not. More over, the Settling Parties agree to actively and mutually defend this settlement if its adoption is opposed by any other party to the proceeding. The Settling Parties understand and acknowledge that time is of essence in obtaining the Commission's approval of this Settlement Agreement and that each will extend its best efforts to insure the adoption of this Settlement Agreement.

C. PUBLIC INTEREST

The Settling Parties agree jointly by executing and submitting this Settlement Agreement that the relief requested herein is just, fair and reasonable, and in the public interest. The Settling Parties acknowledge the value of including all active participants in this case and settlement process. In particular, the Settling Parties acknowledge the contribution of ORA, UCAN, FEA, CCUE and NRDC through their detailed reports, as well as the participation of all intervenors in the discovery and settlement negotiation phases of this proceeding. Each presented extensive substantiation of its positions during the negotiations and participated in an informed, expert manner.

17

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

18

D. NON-PRECEDENTIAL EFFECT

19 This Settlement Agreement is not intended by the Settling Parties to be a binding 20 precedent for any future proceeding. The Settling Parties have assented to the terms of this 21 Settlement Agreement only for the purpose of arriving at the various compromises embodied in 22 this Settlement Agreement. Each Party expressly reserves its right to advocate, in current and 23 future proceedings, positions, principles, assumptions, arguments and methodologies which may 24 be different than those underlying this Settlement Agreement and the Settling Parties expressly 25 declare that, as provided in Rule 51 of the Commission's Rules of Practice and Procedure, this 26 Settlement Agreement should be not be considered as a precedent for or against them.

27

28

E. INDIVISIBILITY

The Settling Parties acknowledge that the positions expressed in this Settlement Agreement were reached after consideration of all positions advanced in the prepared testimony of SDG&E, ORA, UCAN, FEA, CCUE and NRDC as well as numerous proposals offered by each of these and other Parties during the settlement negotiations.⁵ This Settlement Agreement embodies compromises of the Settling Parties' positions. No individual term of this Settlement Agreement is assented to by any Party except in consideration of the Settling Parties' assents to all other terms. Thus, the Settlement Agreement is indivisible and each part is interdependent on each and all other parts.

Any Party may withdraw from this Settlement Agreement if the Commission modifies,
 deletes from, or adds to the disposition of the matters stipulated herein. The Settling Parties
 agree, however, to negotiate in good faith with regard to any Commission-ordered changes in
 order to restore the balance of benefits and burdens, and to exercise the right to withdraw only if
 such negotiations are unsuccessful.

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

F. LIABILITY

The Settling Parties further agree that no signatory to this Settlement Agreement, nor any member of the Staff of the Commission, assumes any personal liability as a result of this Settlement Agreement.

G. GOVERNING LAW

This Settlement Agreement shall be governed by the laws of the State of California (without regard to conflicts of law principles) as to all matters, including, but not limited to, matters of validity, construction, effect, performance and remedies.

27 28

⁵ NRDC's proposed PBR performance indicator for facilitation of Distributed Resources was not discussed as part of the settlement negotiations.

1

H.

INTERPRETATION

~	
2	The section neutrings contained in this betternent Agreement are solely for the purpose of
3	reference, are not part of the agreement of the Settling Parties, and shall not in any way affect the
4	meaning or interpretation of this Settlement Agreement. All references in this Settlement
5	Agreement to Sections are to Sections of this Settlement Agreement unless otherwise indicated.
6	Each of the Settling Parties hereto and their respective counsel have contributed to the
7	preparation of this Settlement Agreement. Accordingly, no provision of this Settlement
8	Agreement shall be construed against any Party because that Party or its counsel drafted the
9	provision.
10	I. NO WAIVER
11	It is understood and agreed that no failure or delay by any Party hereto in exercising any
12	right, power or privilege hereunder shall operate as a waiver thereof, nor shall any single or
13	partial exercise thereof preclude any other or future exercise thereof or the exercise of any other
14	right, power or privilege.
15	
16	J. AMENDMENT/SEVERABILITY
17	This Settlement Agreement sets forth the entire understanding and agreement between the
18	parties with reference to the subject matter hereof, and this Settlement Agreement may not be
19	modified or terminated except by an instrument in writing signed by all Settling Parties hereto.
20	This Settlement Agreement supersedes all prior agreements, negotiations, and understandings
21	among the Settling Parties, both oral and written related to this matter.
22	· ·
23	K. COUNTERPARTS
24	This Settlement Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be
25	deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument.
26	
27	
28	

L. APPENDICES

Appendix A to this Settlement Agreement as listed below is part of the agreement of the Settling Parties and is incorporated into this Settlement Agreement by reference.

Appendix A: Exhibit comparing Parties' litigation positions on the set of PBR performance indicators proposed by SDG&B with the settlement terms for those indicators.

-14-

M. EXECUTION

1

2

In witness whercof, intending to be legally bound, the Settling Parties hereto have duly 3 executed this Settlement Agreement on behalf of the Parties they represent. 4 5 6 By: By: , ll 7 Ste Jason/Zeller Nelson 8 Staff Counsel Attorney for San Diego Gas & Electric Office of Ratepayer Advocates Company 9 California Public Utilities Commission P.O. Box 1831 San Diego, CA 92112 505 Van Ness Avenue 10 San Francisco, CA 94102 (619) 699-5136 11 (415) 703-4673 12 13 By: Nonranfunts By 14 Midhae Norman J. Furuta Shame 15 **Executive Director** Associate Counsel Utility Consumers' Action Network Department of the Navy 16 Federal Executive Agencies 1717 Kettner Blvd. #105 17 900 Commodore Drive San Diego, CA San Bruno, CA 94066-5006 (619) 696-6966 18 (650) 244-2100 19 20 By: By: 21 22 Casey Gwinn Marc Joseph 23 City Attomey **Coalition of California Utility Employees** Deborah Berger Adams, Broadwell & Joseph 24 Deputy City Attorney 651 Gateway Blvd., Ste. 900 1200 Third Avenue Ste. 1200 25 South San Francisco, CA 94080 San Diego, CA 92101 (650) 589-1660 26 (619) 533-5825 27 28

-15-

M. EXECUTION

1

executed this Settlement Agreement on behal	f of the Parties they represent.
	•
By:	By:
Jason Zeller	Steven Nelson
Staff Counsel	Attorney for San Diego Gas & Electr
Office of Ratepayer Advocates	
California Public Utilities Commission	Company P.O. Box 1831
505 Van Ness Avenue	
	San Diego, CA 92112
San Francisco, CA 94102 (415) 703-4673	(619) 699-5136
(110) 105 1015	
By:	D
	By:
Michael Shames	Norman J. Furuta
Executive Director	Associate Counsel
Utility Consumers' Action Network	Department of the Navy
1717 Kettner Blvd. #105	Federal Executive Agencies
San Diego, CA	900 Commodore Drive
(619) 696-6966	San Bruno, CA 94066-5006
	. (650) 244-2100
By:	By:
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	1/ aluther
Marc Joseph	Casey Gwinn
Coalition of California Utility Employees	City Attorney
Adams, Broadwell & Joseph	Deborah Berger
651 Gateway Blvd., Ste. 900	/ Deputy City Attorney
South San Francisco, CA 94080	1200 Third Avenue Ste. 1200
(650) 589-1660	San Diego, CA 92101
· •	(619) 533-5825

By: ast

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Ronald Liebert Associate Counsel California Farm Bureau Federation 2300 River Plaza Drive Sacramento, CA 95833 (916) 561-5657

Bvz

Barry H. Epstein Law Offices of Barry H. Epstein for Natural Resources Defense Council One Market, Steuart Tower Sixteenth Floor San Francisco, CA 94105 (415) 777-4848

9	September 14, 1998	
10		
11		
12		
13		
14		
15		
16		
17		•
18		
19		
20		
21		
22		
23		
24		
25		
26		
27		
28		
		-

-16-

Appendix A

Distribution PBR - Performance Indicator Comparison

Category/Party	SDG&E	ORA	UCAN	FEA	CCUE	NRDC (1)	Settlement (2)
Safety Benchmark Max. Incontive	9.10 (3) +/- \$5 mil.*	8.10 (4) +/- \$3 mil.	n/a +\$0/-\$2 mil.	(5)	7.81 (6) +/- \$5 mil.	No Position	8:80 +/- \$3 mil.
						· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
Reliability (7) SAIDI							
Benchmark	69 min. (8)	70 min. (8)	67 min. (8)	(5)	76 min. (8)	No Position	52 min. for 1999 - 2001 (9) 73 min. for
Max. Incentive	+/- \$2 mil.	+/- \$2 mil.	+/- \$1 mil.		+/- \$5 mil.		2002 (9) +/- \$3.75 mil
SAIFI						ی هم برونی وک که «بندازی که	
Benchmark Max. Incentive	.87 outages/yr +/- \$2 mil.	.90 outages/yr +/- \$2 mil.	.93 outages/yr +/- \$1 mil.	(5)	.92 outages/yr +/- \$5 mil.	No Position	.90 outages/yr +/- \$3.75 mil.
MAIFI Benchmark Max. Incentive	1.35 outages/yr +/- \$2 mil.	1.42 outages/yr +/- \$2 mil	1.36-outages/yr +/- \$1 mil.	(5)	1.28 outages/yr (10) +/- \$2 mil.	No Position	1.28 outages/yr +/- \$1 mil.
<u></u>				· · ·			
Customer Satisfaction			•				
Benchmark Max. Incentive	92% very sat. +/- \$2 mil.	95% very sat. +/- \$2 mil.	(11) +/- \$3 mil.	(5)	93.42% very sat. +/- \$1.4 mil.	No Position	92.5% very sat. +/- \$1.5 mil.
· · ·				· • • .			
Call Center					· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		····
Benchmark	80%/60 sec. None	80%/60 sec. 90%/20 sec. Emergency	80%/60 sec. 90%/20 sec. Emergency	No Position No Position	No Position No Position	No Position No Position	80%/60 sec. None
Max. Incentive	+/- \$1.5 mil.	Penalty Only	+\$0 / -\$ No max.			×	+/- \$1.5 mil.

Appendix A

Distribution PBR - Performance Indicator Comparison

Category/Party	SDG&E	ORA	UCAN	FEA	CCUE	NRDC(1)	Settlement (2)
Service Guarantees							
Missed Appointment							
Benchmark	Opposed	Meet appt. (13)	Meet appointment	No Position	No Position	No Position	Mcct appointment
Credit (12)	a an	\$ 50	\$50				\$50/Waive SEC (14)
New Installations	an a						
Benchmark	Opposed	Meet date (15)	No Position	No Position	No Position	No Position	Meet date
Credit (12)	Station and a state	\$ 50					Waive SEC (16)
Complaint Resolution		e set e ha ann ann an 1977. Tha anns anns anns anns anns anns anns an					
Benchmark	Opposed	w/i 5 work days	No Position	No Position	No Position	No Position	Complaints Reporting
Credit (12)		\$20					
Environmental					·		
Recycling Rate	+ 20%	Opposed	Opposed	Opposed	No Position	Supported	None
Recycling Rate	+ 2070	Opposed	Opposed	Opposed		revision	NOILC.
Max, Incentive	+/- \$1mil.						
Tree Planting	≥9 events/	Opposed	Opposed	Opposed	No Position	Opposed	None
	presentations						
Max. Incentive	+/- \$1 mil. •						
Competition							
Indicators:							
Direct Access	Proposed	Opposed	Opposed	Opposed	Opposed	No Position	Nonc
Program		a an	e sa an ann an tha ann an tha an thair. An tha ann an tha ann an thatachta	an a	Carlo Charlen Star (1997)		
Subscriptions							NACTOR DE LA CONTRACTÓRIA DE LA CONTRACTÓRIA. A MARIA MARTE A DELLA DELLA DELLA DELLA DELLA DE LA CONTRACTÓRIA DE LA CONTRACTÓRIA DE LA CONTRACTÓRIA DE LA C
Direct Access	Proposed	Opposed	Opposed	Opposed	Opposed	No Position	None
Operational				alah sebelah s			
Effectiveness							
Elec. Syst. Maintenance							
Data Collection	Proposed	No Position	No Position	No Position	No Position	No Position	Uncontested
18 mo. period	D	Ma Davistan	No Position	No Position	No Position	NT	
Design	Proposed	No Position	NO POSICIÓN	NO POSICION	INO POSITION	No Position	Uncontested
6 mo. period							

Appendix A

Distribution PBR - Performance Indicator Comparison

Footnotes:

- (1) NRDC also made a proposal for a Distributed Resources performance indicator which is not addressed in this Settlement Agreement.
- (2) Summary only. The settlement includes additional details described in the text of the Settlement Agreement.
- (3) Includes an adjustment of plus 1.0 for the merger.
- (4) Excludes an adjustment for the merger since SDG&E merger information not available when intervenor testimony submitted. Primary position was to eliminate the safety performance indicator.
- (5) Recommended adoption of the Safety, Reliability and Customer Satisfaction performance indicators (testimony does not specify revisions, but refers to Edison's PBR as a model).
- (6) Excludes an adjustment for the merger since SDG&E merger information not available when intervenor testimony submitted.
- (7) Excludes Major Events, which are defined by SDG&E as in its current PBR, and by all other parties as by the CPUC in D.96-09-045.
- (8) Includes underground cable failures.
- (9) 52 minutes (excluding underground cable failures) for each year 1999, 2000, 2001.
 73 minutes (including underground cable failures) for 2002.
- (10) Primary position was to not support a MAIFI performance indicator.
- (11) Proposed four indicators with separate benchmark for each.
- (12) To customer for SDG&E not meeting commitment.
- (13) If the appointment cannot be met, notify the customer at least four hours in advance.
- (14) The credit need not be paid if the customer is notified at least four hours before the end of the appointment period. For turn-on orders the customer will be credited with the applicable Service Establishment Charge (SEC). Guarantee not applicable for gas pilot light appointments or if appointment is missed due to extreme conditions.
- (15) If the date needs to be changed, at least 24 hours notice to be provided to the customer and the credit need not be made.
- (16) The Service Establishment Charge (SEC) credited (\$15 electric, \$30 for both gas and electric) to the customer. The credit need not be made if at least 24 hours notice of a date change is given to the customer.

ATTACHMENT 1 Page 1

ESCALATION

SDG&E's escalation measure is based on historical and forecasted industry-specific data. Separate escalation factors are used for electric and gas. These escalation factors are designed to measure changes in price levels of labor, non-labor and capital inputs purchased by California utilities.

The escalation factors are developed using national-level utilityspecific cost indices obtained from the Standard & Poor's DRI/McGraw-Hill Economic and Utility Cost Forecasting Services (DRI). The component national level utility cost indices are combined into electric distribution and gas escalation factors using expenditure weights developed from historical expenditures by electric and gas utilities located in California. The electric utilities are SDG&E, Southern California Edison, and Pacific Gas and Electric Company (PG&E). The gas utilities are SDG&E, Southern California Gas Company, and PG&E.

Labor O&M Cost Index

Average hourly earnings for electric, gas, and sanitary services are used as the basis for the labor cost index for both electric distribution and gas. Referred to as AHE49NS by DRI, historical data for this data series is reported by the United States Bureau of Labor Statistics (BLS). This data is used as the basis for the DRI labor cost index, and forecasts of AHE49NS are available from DRI.

ATTACHMENT 1 Page 2

Non-Labor O&M Cost Indices

Separate non-labor cost indices are developed for electric distribution and gas. The index for electric distribution non-labor O&M expenses utilizes five DRI cost indices: total distribution plant O&M cost index (JEDOMMS), customer accounts operation cost index (JECAOMS), customer service and information operation cost index (JECSIIOMS), sales operation cost index (JESALOMS), and total administrative and general O&M cost index (JEADGOMMS).

The index for gas non-labor O&M expenses is the DRI total gas utility non labor O&M cost index (JGTOTALMS).

Capital-Related Cost Indices

The cost index for capital related electric distribution costs is based on an estimate of the rental price of electric distribution utility structures, which is estimated from three data series obtained from DRI: rental price of capital - nonresidential structures-public utilities (ICNRCOSTPU); chain type price index - investment in nonresidential structures - public utilities (PCWICNRPU), and the Handy-Whitman electric utility construction cost index -total distribution plant, Pacific Region (JUEPD@PCF). All of these indices are obtained from DRI. The rental price of capital for electric distribution utility structures (ICNRCOSTPUED) is calculated as follows:

ICNRCOSTPUED = ICNRCOSTPU*(JUEPD@PCF/PCWICNRPU)

The cost index for capital related gas costs is based on an estimate of the rental price of gas utility structures, which is estimated from three data series obtained from DRI: rental price of capital - nonresidential structurespublic utilities (ICNRCOSTPU); chain type price index - investment in nonresidential structures - public utilities (PCWICNRPU), and the Handy-

ATTACHMENT 1 Page 3

Whitman gas utility construction cost index -total plant, Pacific Region (JUG@PCF). The rental price of gas utility structures (ICNRCOSTPUG) is calculated as follows:

ICNRCOSTPUG = ICNRCOSTPU*(JUG@PCF/PCWICNRPU)

A three-year moving average of the rental price of utility structures is used to calculate the capital -related cost indices.

Weighting Factors

The escalation factors for electric distribution and gas are each a weighted average of the component cost indices for labor, non-labor, and capital-related expenses. The weights used to construct the weighted average are based on average state-level electric distribution expenditures or gas utility expenditures expressed in real 1996 dollars for the period 1992 - 1996. These weights are shown below:

Campina	State-Level we	ignis
	Electric	Gas
Labor	0.179216	0.234234
Non-Labor		0.312008
Distribution	0.062799	
Customer Accounts	0.028032	
Customer Service	0.043102	
Sales	0.001225	
Admin. & General	0.109725	
Capital	0.575900	0.453757
Total	1.000000	1.000000

California State-Level Weights

ATTACHMENT 1 Page 4

Annual Escalation Calculation

Starting in the year 2000, the percentage changes in the weighted cost indices will be used in the PBR indexing formulae to adjust the electric distribution and gas base rates for changes in the cost of inputs purchased by the utility. In mid-August 1999, one-year ahead projections of the cost indexes and the percentage changes in these indexes will be estimated. These estimates will be based on the most recent historical and forecast data available from Standard and Poor's DRI/McGraw-Hill Economic and Utility Cost Information Services. In mid-August of every year starting in the year 2000, historical and forecast cost indexes and percentage changes in these indexes will be estimated from the most recent historical and forecast data available from DRI. The historical and forecast percentage changes will be used in the rates indexing formulae to obtain rates for the next year. Both forecast and historical percent changes back to 1999 are required to true-up rates to the most recent and accurate cost escalation estimates available after 1999. The updated historical and forecast percentage changes should capture all revisions in the DRI data used to compute the cost indexes.

(END OF ATTACHMENT 1)

ATTACHMENT 2

EARNINGS SHARING MECHANISM

The earnings sharing mechanism we adopt in this decision is illustrated below:

Shareholder and Ratepayer Percentage Share of Revenues Associated with Rate of Return (ROR) Above Authorized

<u>Shareholders %</u>	<u>Ratepayers %</u>	Basis Points Above Authorized ROR
100	0	Above 300
95	5	250 to 300
85	15	200 to 250
75	25	175 to 200
65	35	150 to 175
55	45	125 to 150
45	55	100 to 125
35	65	75 to 100
25	75	25 to 75
100	0	0 to 25
100	0	ROR below authorized*

*If SDG&B reports an ROR which is 150 basis points or greater below the authorized ROR, SDG&E or ORA may file for voluntary suspension of the PBR mechanism. If SDG&B reports an ROR which is 300 basis points or more below its authorized ROR, the PBR mechanism will be automatically suspended, and SDG&E will be required to file an application which will lead to a formal review of the mechanism.

(END OF ATTACHMENT 2)

A.98-01-014 D.99-05-030

Henry M. Duque, Commissioner, dissenting:

I must dissent from the outcome adopted by my colleagues. I have thought long and hard about this decision. In the end, I come out in favor adoption of a revenue per customer indexing approach over a rate index. My intuition, supported by the presentations of UCAN and NRDC and the ALJ's findings, tells me that a rate index will lead management to vigorously pursue increased sales without corresponding benefit to ratepayers. I just cannot support that outcome.

SDG&E points out that the revenue per customer approach is a more complex regulatory scheme. I agree, but find that the regulatory savings from the rate index approach are outweighed by my conclusion that the revenue per customer approach better balances ratepayer and shareholder needs. The rate index provides significant earnings opportunities for shareholders, but in my evaluation, it does not provide nearly as strong of an incentive to reduce costs to customers. The revenue per customer approach is better for ratepayers white still providing earnings opportunities for shareholders. In my balancing of ratepayer and shareholder interests, I find that the revenue per customer approach is simply superior to the rate index.

1

<u>/s/ HENRY M. DUQUE</u> Henry M. Duque Commissioner

May 13, 1999

San Francisco

A.98-01-014 D.99-05-030

Henry M. Duque, Commissioner, dissenting:

RENENNAL

I must dissent from the outcome adopted by my colleagues. I have thought long and hard about this decision. In the end, I come out in favor adoption of a revenue per customer indexing approach over a rate index. My intuition, supported by the presentations of UCAN and NRDC and the ALJ's findings, tells me that a rate index will lead management to vigorously pursue increased sales without corresponding benefit to ratepayers. I just cannot support that outcome.

SDG&E points out that the revenue per customer approach is a more complex regulatory scheme. I agree, but find that the regulatory savings from the rate index approach are outweighed by my conclusion that the revenue per customer approach better balances ratepayer and shareholder needs. The rate index provides significant earnings opportunities for shareholders, but in my evaluation, it does not provide nearly as strong of an incentive to reduce costs to customers. The revenue per customer approach is better for ratepayers while still providing earnings opportunities for shareholders. In my balancing of ratepayer and shareholder interests, I find that the revenue per customer approach is simply superior to the rate index.

Henry

Commissioner

May 13, 1999

San Francisco